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Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: We begin our meeting in public session but will go into private session to deal 
with some housekeeping matters.

  The joint committee went into private session at 4.04 p.m. and resumed in public session 
at 4.25 p.m.

Tracker Mortgages: Allied Irish Banks

Chairman: We will now resume in public session to debate the tracker mortgage redress 
issue.  I welcome Mr. Bernard Byrne, CEO of Allied Irish Banks, AIB and his colleagues to the 
meeting.  I must advise the witnesses that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 
2009, they are protected by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to this committee.  
However, if they are directed by the committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter 
and continue to so do, they are entitled thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect of their 
evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these pro-
ceedings is to be given and asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where 
possible, they should not criticise or make charges against any person, persons or entity by 
name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an of-
ficial either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I invite Mr. Byrne to make his opening remarks.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I thank the Chairman and members of the committee for inviting AIB 
here today.  We are here to provide the committee with an update on the tracker mortgage is-
sue, the progress to date and the work being done to bring this to a conclusion for our impacted 
customers.  I am joined today by members of my executive team, Mr. Jim O’Keeffe, Mr. Robert 
Mulhall and Mr. Tom Kinsella

Since 26 September 26 when we last discussed the tracker mortgage issue with this com-
mittee, there has been ongoing and understandable public and political criticism of the banking 
industry’s handling of the matter.  In the course of that debate, many questions have been raised 
about how we got to this point.  Fundamentally there are three areas where key questions arise.  
The first is how the problem arose, the second is how the bank has responded and the third is 
the current status. 

In terms of how the problem arose, it is helpful at the outset to articulate the circumstances, 
as we understand them, that existed at the time the original decision was made.  The tracker 
mortgage product was introduced in 2002 at a time when wholesale market funding for banks 
was readily available and referenced off European Central Bank, ECB, rates.  The tracker prod-
uct had its interest rate based on ECB rates, plus an appropriate margin.  As the 2008 financial 
crisis devastated economies globally, banks across many countries, including Ireland, were 
experiencing severe liquidity difficulties and the wholesale markets effectively closed or radi-
cally repriced credit causing the dislocation of funding from the ECB rate.  Faced with this 
reality, AIB, initially in the second quarter of 2008, began to increase the tracker product mar-
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gin.  Things moved very rapidly and a month after the collapse of Lehman Brothers and the in-
troduction of the Government guarantee scheme, the tracker product had very quickly become 
unsustainable.  The tracker as a new product offering became redundant due to the scale of the 
margin increase required to reflect the rising cost of funding.  The decision which was taken 
in late 2008 was to no longer make the product available for new customers.  In other words, 
tracker mortgages were no longer offered to new customers but remained in place for those 
already holding one.  Contrary to a widely held view, approximately 104,000 AIB and Edu-
cational Building Society, EBS, customer accounts, which at the time of the decision were on 
tracker mortgages were not affected by this decision and retained their rate.  The unforeseen and 
unintended consequence of this decision was that certain customers who held a tracker product 
at some point previously but had already moved off the tracker product prior to this decision 
were not able to revert to the tracker product.  It is clear that the potential fallout of the decision 
to stop offering the tracker product to new customers was not considered in terms of how exist-
ing customers might be impacted in the future, as some of these customers had a right to revert 
to a tracker product.  This clearly should not have happened. 

In terms of how the bank responded, the differential that would later develop between the 
bank’s standard variable rate, SVR, and historical tracker mortgage rates and the unprecedented 
duration of the historically low ECB rates clearly amplified the initial error.  In addition, the dif-
ficulty was compounded by limited legacy IT systems and operational failures in AIB and EBS 
when it merged with AIB in 2011.  The systems did not record the bank’s proper commitments 
and obligations to its customers.    While the failure to consider the impact on customers was not 
deliberate, it is a failure that should not have happened and we apologise for this.  Where com-
plaints occurred, they were initially infrequent and were dealt with by the bank on an individual 
basis as each arose.  Legal advice and the initial outcome of cases taken to the ombudsman sup-
ported the bank’s position.  With the benefit of hindsight, this was a too bank-centred approach.

In August 2015, following the identification of a particular issue involving certain EBS 
customers, and in the context of wider industry developments at the time, an analysis of the 
tracker issue was conducted within AIB.  We commenced a significant programme of work 
which ultimately scaled up to 500 bank personnel dedicated to the programme.  The bank over 
time conducted an analysis of circa 650,000 accounts to establish what we were dealing with.  
From the outset, we conducted our review by looking at contractual obligations but also exam-
ined whether proper levels of transparency and information were made available to customers 
that would enable them to make appropriate decisions in their own best interests.  We sought to 
establish how the product was designed, administered and ultimately discontinued.

Issues identified included contractual breaches and-or unclear marketing, as well as pro-
cess weaknesses.  Eventually, more than 30 different customer groupings were recognised as 
impacted across AIB and EBS.  Thus it became apparent that while we wanted to build early 
momentum in the programme, we would not be able to arrive at a one-size-fits-all solution.  
Essentially, impacted customers fell into three broad categories: those not on a tracker rate but 
who were entitled to revert to a tracker; those who remained on a tracker rate but were incor-
rectly charged a higher margin for a period of time; and those who were never on a tracker rate 
but who had a contractual option to be offered a prevailing tracker rate at the end of their fixed 
rate period.

On the basis of what we believed to be the scale of the problem, the bank set aside a provi-
sion of €190 million to cover the anticipated costs involved.  We worked to ensure full compli-
ance with the Central Bank framework that issued in December 2015, which included a fully 
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independent third party review and an appeals process.  We submitted to the Central Bank in 
2016 our approach to rate rectification and compensation.  Since then, we have continued to 
implement that programme, completing all the required steps under the Central Bank of Ireland 
framework.

Members will have seen from information provided directly to the committee and from 
other recent bank statements that by the end of quarter 1 2018, all 3,509 customers who were 
identified as not on the tracker rate as they should have been will be redressed and compensated.  
Approximately 96% of these been completed.  By the end of quarter 1 2018, all 939 customers 
incorrectly charged a higher margin for a period of time – most impacted by less than €500 – 
will be redressed and compensated.  A total of 81% have been completed.  For these categories, 
customer accounts have been returned to their own historic tracker mortgage rate.  In addition, 
as noted in our December 2017 review, the following are now included and will be redressed: 
by the end of quarter 1 2018, the customers who were never on a tracker mortgage - our initial 
estimate of 4,000 was published in December - but who could not avail of one because it was 
withdrawn, will each receive compensation of €1,000 plus €615 towards independent advice.  
This group was included in the review in December 2017.  By the end of quarter 2, a further 
900 customers will be reverted to their own tracker rate and will be redressed and compensated.

I fully accept the need for real urgency in bringing this issue to a close, most especially in 
the interests of the impacted customers.  AIB continues to focus very significant energy and re-
sources to ensure we reach a conclusion as quickly as possible.  The bank has many challenges 
and opportunities as we face into 2018.  Resolution of this tracker issue is clearly a priority.  I 
am not in a position to make any new financial disclosures today as we are in a close period, but 
in our trading update issued in December, the bank reported that it is on track to deliver a full 
year financial performance materially in line with market expectations.

As I have said to the committee previously, AIB is deeply conscious of the adverse effect 
this issue has had on impacted customers.  Many people are angry as a result of the treatment 
they encountered and I apologise again for this on behalf of the bank.  AIB’s culture and reputa-
tion can only stand on the foundation of fair treatment for the customer.  Where we fall short 
of this standard, it undermines our values and the credibility of the bank.  We cannot allow that 
as we seek to put the interests of our customers first and to rebuild the bank and its reputation.  
We will continue to work hard until the programme is finished and we intend to reach that point 
by mid-2018.  Customers are assured that payments they receive under the redress scheme will 
not compromise their right to appeal and, therefore, we can reasonably expect that cases might 
flow on from this for some time after the date we have indicated.  However, AIB, for its part, 
will have concluded the overwhelming majority of its redress and compensation programme 
within months.

I thank the committee again for inviting us and we look forward to questions.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I welcome Mr. Byrne and his colleagues and I thank him for 
his opening statement.  I would like to recap the overall picture and link that to the first part of 
the statement as to how this happened in the first place.  A total of 96% of the first large cohort 
of approximately 3,500 customers identified by the bank have been redressed and compensated.  
They were once on a tracker, came off it, and then at the end of the fixed rate period were not 
offered a tracker again.  Is that broadly what happened to that cohort?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There is a mix of issues but, broadly, those customers had at some 
point a tracker and they moved on to something else.
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Deputy  Michael McGrath: They were on one at some point.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Then something happened in the system.  For the purpose of this dis-
cussion, I think that is fine.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: A margin issue affected the cohort of 939.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: In some cases, they were only affected for a few days.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes, it varied.  On average, it was a modest issue in the scheme of it 
but it was the wrong margin.  A higher margin was charged to those customers.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Let us call the remaining 4,000 customers the prevailing rate 
cohort and I will come to that shortly.  Adding all these cohorts together gives a total of 9,348, 
but is that customers or accounts?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Customers.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Of those, the prevailing rate cohort has not been paid while the 
margin issue cohort of 939 will be paid by June of this year meaning the vast bulk of the first 
two categories have been paid.  Perhaps 140 of the 3,500 cohort have not been paid and 178 of 
the 939 cohort.  Overall, approximately 5,200 have not yet been redressed or compensated.  Is 
that fair to say?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes, of the 9,348.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I refer to Mr. Byrne’s explanation for how the problem arose.  
He said that in late 2008 the bank withdrew the tracker product and “the unforeseen and unin-
tended consequence of this decision was that certain customers, who held a tracker product at 
some point previously but had already moved off the tracker product prior to this decision, were 
not able to revert to the tracker product”.  While that was unintended and unforeseen, they had 
a contractual entitlement to revert to a tracker, the terms of which were defined in their contract.  
How could the bank have thought at that time that because it had withdrawn a tracker product 
that those customers, whose contracts stated they had the right to return to a tracker product, 
would not be so entitled?  How could that be “unforeseen and unintended”?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Because it was not thought about.  As we have gone through each co-
hort, we have tried to look at the underlying circumstances that gave rise to these issues.  What 
we have done in respect of that is go back and, ultimately, one had to back to what was the 
decision to exit the tracker product.  The decision that was made in 2008 was to take away the 
tracker product for new customers.  That was a discrete decision.  There was no consideration 
based on what we can see of consequences of that decision elsewhere.  The decision was around 
whether the tracker product would remain for new customers.  That was the decision that was 
clearly made at that point in time and, as I have mentioned, another aspect of that - and this just 
flowed from it - was that any customer who was on a tracker stayed on a tracker.  There were 
104,000 customers.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: But the customers had a pre-existing contractual commitment 
and the bank took the view that the clause fell when it withdrew the tracker product.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That was a consequence of that decision because it was not thought 
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through.  When we look back at that period - and we are looking back at what exists in respect 
of documentation because I was not there at the time - that is what we see.  There was not a 
decision set that talks about those individual customers or that talked through the portfolio.  
We have mentioned to the committee that there was a series of process failures and a series of 
diligence failures in terms of understanding the obligations that existed for those customers, 
looking at them, and tracking and monitoring them.  They did not exist.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Is there any evidence of a discussion within the bank on the 
issue or any consideration given to it?  Was it identified at the time as being a risk or something 
that would need to be examined?  AIB was ending the tracker product, but it had thousands of 
customers who were not on a tracker at the time but who had a contractual entitlement to return 
to a tracker.  Was that issue not even thought of or considered to the extent that Mr. Byrne can 
look back and-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: AIB states in its questionnaire that it has identified 14 custom-
ers who lost their homes.  How were they compensated?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We spoke about the loss of up to 14 homes a number of meetings ago.  
I might ask Mr. O’Keeffe to talk the Deputy through that process.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: The identification of customers who lost their homes is done on the 
basis of looking at what rate they would have been on had they been on the tracker rate.  In 
addition, we look at their affordability to see if customers would have been able to afford that 
rate.  The homes that were lost were all sales as opposed to repossessions, so they would have 
gone through a forbearance process and identified the sale of the property.  In identifying that 
grouping, we identified the tracker rate, calculated the affordability of the customer and, to al-
low flexibility, we built in 15% extra affordability because of the nature of the issue we were 
facing.  We looked at what was the most favourable forbearance option that could have been 
provided to the customer so that we minimised the repayment amount as much as we could.  If 
we put them through the forbearance structure, what we would then get to would be the mini-
mum repayment amount versus the maximum affordability that we could find related to it.  On 
that basis, we would compensate and we take a series of actions relating to the compensation.  
There is the refund of any overpayments on the account itself and the account was rebuilt right 
back to the date on which the error occurred.  Transaction statements are rebuilt line by line so 
that we put it back exactly as it was.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Have those cases been resolved to the satisfaction of the cus-
tomers?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Those cases have been resolved.  The majority were resolved in 2016 
and two were resolved in 2017.  Two appeals relating to it came through.  Those appeals went 
through the independent appeals panel.  As the Deputy knows, AIB does not have a member on 
the independent appeals panel.  Those appeals were not upheld at the appeals panel.  Following 
that, there were further discussions with the people who appealed.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Two cases went to appeal and-----

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Were not upheld.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: -----may still be outstanding in some form.
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Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: We are following the independent appeals panel’s decision, which was 
not to find in favour of the customer.  We are now looking at those cases.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: It is impossible for any of us who have not been in that situ-
ation to understand what those people went through.  The least that they deserve is to get a 
home that they are satisfied with and is of a similar standard to what they had.  That does not 
compensate them for what they went through but I think that the bank needs to ensure that all 
those cases are resolved fully to the satisfaction of the customers.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We acknowledge that money is not a remedy for all of the issues but is 
the solution we are looking at in the confines we have.  In looking at and deriving compensation 
for this particular grouping, we look at the future value of the tracker which they lost, so there 
is a compensation payment for that.  There is a compensation payment for the loss of value on 
the property that would have arisen had they managed to hold the property during that period.  
There is a write-down of any residual debt associated with it, compensation for time value of 
money and general compensation on top of that.  It is based on people being in a property of 
a similar position to the compensation value that is derived and then clearing out any other 
obligations.  I am not saying that is the right answer but it is the one that we think is trying to 
be reasonable or address effectively the position of that customer and the loss of value of that 
property.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I appreciate that AIB is in a closed period but I wish to confirm 
the cost of this whole issue to the bank.  Its provision is €190 million since 2015.  It has utilised 
€133 million of that.  Is that correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Does the provision of €190 million include the cost of staff 
and the administrative cost of the 500 people in the bank working on this?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It does not include the pure administration costs associated with this.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: It does not, so it is purely redress and compensation for the 
customer.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is AIB’s percentage range of redress and compensation?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The range can be very broad.  Mr. Kinsella might have statistics.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: We have four different levels of compensation.  The compensation per-
centage runs from 15%, for the vast majority, some 85% of customers, to the 22% range for 
customers who had entered the legal process, 22% for customers where the property has been 
sold but the rate has not been deemed causal and, finally, for those most severely impacted, the 
14 customers we spoke about, the compensation rate is 30%.  On top of that are the compensa-
tion procedures that Mr. Byrne talked about.  On top of that again is a minimum payment of 
€50,000 per customer.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: The prevailing rate issue is the most significant outstanding 
issue that AIB faces as part of this tracker scandal.  AIB has identified approximately 4,000 
customers.  Up until recent months, they were not included in the scope of AIB’s tracker exami-
nation.  How did AIB arrive at the compensation flat fee of €1,000?
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: The group was not included within the scope of our examination as 
our determination for that group was that the prevailing rate which would have been offered 
at the time would have been significantly higher than the rates in the market and therefore the 
customer did not suffer detriment.  As a result of the engagement with the Central Bank over 
the past quarter, its main objective was to get customers into the framework so that they would 
have the protection of the framework and that is how we arrived at the significant increase of 
those numbers coming in.  We have not looked at those customers as being impacted because 
of the detriment issue.  We do not view them as having lost as a result of the tracker issue.  We 
might talk about that later.  The compensation issue was derived by-----

Mr. Tom Kinsella: The compensation of €1,000 was derived from looking at recent Finan-
cial Services Ombudsman, FSO, cases and the awards that the FSO has made for service level 
breaches.  We take the upper end of that, which was €1,000.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Did the Central Bank have to tell AIB to include this cohort of 
customers in the examination?  AIB was not including them up to October.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.  Our determination in respect of those was that they were not 
disadvantaged as a result of the tracker offer because the tracker they would have been offered 
would have been at a higher rate.  The Central Bank was keen, and I think the Deputy has had 
this conversation-----

Deputy  Michael McGrath: That is Mr. Byrne’s interpretation.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It was also the interpretation of the Central Bank relating to the com-
pensation for that matter.  We have ended up with a payment for the breach of contract as op-
posed to something else.  We have agreed that customers are in the framework which gives 
people the ability to appeal their own individual circumstances but, in overall terms, the posi-
tion around the prevailing rate is one that we have worked through with the Central Bank.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: These 4,000 or so customers were never on a tracker but they 
had an entitlement to go onto a tracker rate after a fixed rate period, generally.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It depended on what particular offer they were on but it was probably 
a fixed rate.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Many were on a fixed rate and had an entitlement then to go 
onto a tracker rate.  There is a clause in the contract stating “at the prevailing rate”.  Is the pre-
vailing rate defined in the mortgage contract for this cohort of customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  The prevailing rate is, in our view, interpreted as the rate that 
exists on the market at the point in time of the actual consideration.  For any commodity, the 
prevailing rate of offer is the rate at that point in time.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Would most of these customers have had the same or a very 
similar contract or are there a range of different types of contracts for these customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: In general, those customers would have a very similar contract which 
had the option relating to the prevailing rate, as the Deputy described, included.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: On top of that clause which entitled them to a tracker at the 
prevailing rate, is there not another clause in their contract that explicitly defines a tracker mort-
gage interest rate?
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: Defines and describes it?

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Yes, which defines it as being the European Central Bank, 
ECB, rate plus the tracker margin.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There is no tracker margin in those contracts.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: In any of them?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: In the grouping that we are now talking about, those customers did not 
have a tracker margin included in their contracts.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: So in all cases for these 4,000 customers, there is one clause 
that entitles them to go onto a tracker mortgage-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: To be on the prevailing rate tracker.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: -----at the prevailing rate following a period on a fixed rate or 
otherwise.  There is another clause in their contract that defines the tracker interest loan as be-
ing the ECB plus a margin and Mr. Byrne is saying the margin is not specified in any of them. 

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There may be some customers in a different group but they would 
have already been on a tracker, come off it and gone back onto one.  In this group no margin is 
specified.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: How did the bank calculate the prevailing rate?

Mr. Robert Mulhall: I will respond to the previous point first and then lead into how we 
calculate the prevailing rate.  Quite specifically, if customers started on a tracker mortgage then 
section 1 of their contract would have indicated the margin for their tracker mortgage.  I think 
that is what the Deputy is referring to.  The 4,000 customers we are talking about, however, did 
not start on a tracker mortgage so no such mortgage margin was defined in section 1.  I think 
that is where the Deputy is trying to get to in respect of that clause 3.6.

To define a prevailing rate we looked at the underlying funding costs in the market at the 
time.  It is worth noting that in 2008 and 2009 in the UK, where trackers were not withdrawn 
in some instances, tracker mortgages went up to 7% and exceeded that.  The reference rate for 
what was likely to happen given the funding environment makes clear that it would have been 
a very expensive product.  We considered it from the point of view of cost of funds, cost of 
risk etc. and had that verified by an external party to ensure independence and that it was a fair 
treatment of what the model would have told in terms of what the prevailing rates would have 
been in the intervening period.  

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Mr. Mulhall’s view is that the prevailing rate refers to the pre-
vailing rate at the time that they became entitled to go on to a tracker.  They are not entitled to 
go onto a tracker at the prevailing rate today.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: The contract stipulates the then prevailing rate and that is the basis 
on which the decision was made.  To respond to the earlier point, that is the basis for how much 
the bank was maybe incorrect in its decision in the past, whereby it was interpreting the then 
prevailing rate in these instances as the tracker product had been withdrawn, therefore there was 
no such offer to be made to customers.  That applied to customers who had and did not have 
trackers and we have now rectified that situation.
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For clarity, we have returned people who previously held a tracker to their historic margin.  
That is 640 customers and that was completed in the latter half of 2016 and early 2017. 

Deputy  Michael McGrath: If the bank is so confident that it is right on this why is it pay-
ing them all €1,000?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We accept the fact that there has been a breach in respect of our inabil-
ity to offer them a rate at that point and we have agreed to put in place a compensation amount 
for that particular breach.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: On that question of the prevailing rate and the surrounding is-
sues, did these 4,000 customers have an option when they were taking out their mortgage to 
take out a tracker rate initially?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: At the time the tracker was in situ any customer would have had the 
option to take a tracker.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: In the contract documents that they have, if their mortgages are 
still live, they could have taken out a tracker on day one but most opted for a fixed rate for a 
period, usually three or four years.  Is that correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The whole offer at that time contained several elements and one was 
the product they took out at that time.  There is a set of terms and conditions and the product 
they take out.  It is all one package at that time.  The customer takes out the product and the 
terms at that time.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I have seen many contracts and it would be very helpful if AIB 
could take out the personal details from some contracts and supply them to the committee so 
that we could be more familiar with them.  I have seen letters of offer and contracts from the 
bank and it is clear that the letter of offer would be a tracker mortgage but there was an option to 
fix if the individual wanted to.  The individual would fix for three years or so and the conditions 
in clause 3.2 were that after the fixed period it would be the prevailing rate.  Is that the type of 
contract we are talking about for the 4,000 customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: They are the 2006-2009 terms and conditions, as we call them be-
cause they were the terms that prevailed for that period.  At the point that the contract was 
executed there was a decision and determination made on what rate and what type of rate they 
were taking out.  The contract would not have referred to a tracker margin.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The letter of offer would have contained several options, one 
of which was a tracker rate, with an ECB plus margin fixed to it, would that be correct?  They 
would also have an option of fixing, which many of them did and then the contract was drawn 
up on that basis.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: In these cases the customer specifically chose the fixed rate mortgage 
to start with and therefore got a letter of offer and a contract associated with a fixed rate mort-
gage which gave them the options we spoke about earlier but there was no definition of a tracker 
margin in their contract.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Would there have been a definition of this tracker margin on the 
letter of offer?

Mr. Robert Mulhall: It is not my understanding.  I think the letter of offer would refer spe-
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cifically to the product they had chosen.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Let us examine who was denied a tracker mortgage by AIB.  This 
cohort of individuals was contractually entitled to a tracker mortgage and the bank denied them 
the tracker mortgage.  Then the bank switched 900 people who were on tracker mortgages and 
it denied them the right to go back on to the tracker mortgage and they had a contractual right 
to one.  There were 939 on a margin and there were the 3,509.  If we break down those four 
different categories of individuals into the 4,000 customers, did AIB deny every single person 
who was never on a tracker but had a contractual right to go onto one the chance to go onto a 
tracker during that period?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have said that those people, under that contract at the time that 
they came into being, were offered a renewal, if their original offer was, for example, a fixed 
rate, and would have been offered a variable rate or an additional fixed rate.  There was no pre-
vailing rate tracker in place at that time so we did not offer one.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I will repeat my original question because I do not think Mr. By-
rne answered it.  If they chose to fix for a second time and came off that would they have been 
entitled to a tracker?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The contract terms would have continued to exist on the same basis.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: They would have been entitled to a prevailing rate tracker.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes, a prevailing rate tracker.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: For whatever number of those 4,000 customers that fixed for the 
second time is the prevailing rate calculated at the end of the second fixed period?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The prevailing rate for every customer is on the basis of the day we 
are offering the new rate on the mortgage.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Will Mr. Byrne explain that to me?  Is that the end of the first or 
second fixed period?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is the end of whatever that relevant period is; if it is in time forward, 
if it is the second period, then it is the end of the second period.  At the end of the first period it 
was the rate that would have applied at that date and on the future date it is the rate applied on 
that date.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: If somebody fixed for a second period, for five years, it is five 
years beyond when they chose to fix the second time.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Returning to my question, was every single one of the customers 
who had a contractual right to be offered a tracker rate after October 2008 denied the option of 
a tracker rate?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As I have said, we did not have a tracker product so therefore we did 
not offer them that product.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is Mr. Byrne saying that the circa 900 customers who had a track-
er rate switched to a fixed rate when trackers were withdrawn, they did not have a contractual 
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right but there were communication issues?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes, under their particular contract the contract did not have any lan-
guage associated with a tracker included in it because they would have originated pre-trackers.  
Therefore there was not a contractual position associated with a tracker.  They would have been 
entitled to an offer of a variable rate mortgage or a fixed rate.  That was under the terms and con-
ditions of their contract.  Upon final examination in respect of that, and when the Central Bank 
as part of its programme spoke about its broad perspective on the industry and the weighting to 
be given to marketing materials over contractual materials, we decided that we should include 
them.  That effectively meant that any customer who ever had a tracker in that context would 
therefore be entitled to go back onto that tracker rate, as a result of giving more weight to the 
marketing materials than the contractual ones.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What category do the 3,509 customers fall into?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: They fall into a whole series of categories.  My colleague, Mr. Kin-
sella, will comment.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: The primary make up of that category, or the largest group, is the 600 
that Mr. Mulhall referred to, which are the customers who had the 2006-09 contract.  They 
started out with a tracker and then went on to a fixed period.  When they rolled off their fixed, 
the tracker product was no longer available as an option.  They are the group that we have res-
tituted back to the historic tracker.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: So that category included 600 people.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: Yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Can I presume that many other people took out trackers at the 
same time under the same condition who got back on to their trackers?  Did AIB stop every 
single one of them in that category getting back on to their trackers?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: At the time that the tracker product was withdrawn anybody who had 
a tracker maintained their tracker.  The people affected here are people who rolled off their 
trackers.  I mean they left trackers before the product was withdrawn and went on to a fixed 
product.  That fixed product expired over the timeframe between 2008 and 2012 when there 
was no prevailing rate.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Was every single person in that category denied a tracker rate?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: Because there was no tracker rate available.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I listened to what Mr. Byrne said about the reasons and how the 
bank responded.  To tell the truth, my blood pressure continued to increase because I simply 
do not believe what I heard.  I do not believe that IT systems can be blamed and that the effects 
were not considered at the time.  I know Mr. Byrne was not there at the time but I want to tell 
him that I believe that it was not just an accident.   I do not believe people when they say: “Ah, 
we discontinued the scheme in 2008 and we did not consider that thousands of our customers 
had the contractual right to go on to trackers.”  The reason I say I do not believe AIB is because 
customers approached it and made complaints.  They told the bank about their entitlement long 
before any examination by AIB in 2015.  What did AIB do?  AIB pulled down the shutters, told 
people to hit the high road and told people they were wrong.  When the matter was brought to 
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the bank’s attention by individuals it did not correct the matter.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The question I answered was in respect of how the matter started, so I 
answered the question on 2008.  In the opening statement we talked about the period after that.  
We identified and recognised that complaints came in.  We have said that there was a very small 
number of complaints, and they were.  In the scheme of where the organisation was and where 
things were, there was a tiny number of complaints.  A number of those complaints were made 
and passed on through the ombudsman, and the ombudsman did find in favour of the bank in 
terms of its position.  At that point in time, people understood the position that the bank was 
adopting and, principally, these were around rate-type issues, and that actually there was a rea-
sonable position that the bank was adopting in respect of that offering.

It was only later on, and the period that we are talking about now is into the 2015 period, 
when the prevailing rate issue started to emerge more in the ombudsman-type issue.  Broader 
issues were taking place across the industry at that point in time.  We identified a particular 
group in respect of an EBS offering, which we have not talked about.  It is a price promise of-
fering, which also sat on a 3,500 group that Mr. Kinsella has talked about.  All of those issues 
came and we said that we need to look at this because there is enough indication now that there 
is a problem.  That was when, in August 2015, we started the programme around looking at the 
whole tracker issue, and started to step up our position on that. 

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: When the Central Bank wrote to the CEO of AIB in 2010 on the 
tracker issues, what did the bank find?  Who conducted the examination?  How did AIB ignore 
the fact that 9,348 of its customers were contractually denied their legal entitlement?

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: It is important to look at the issue, as I understand it, that was 
under the scope in 2010.  My colleague, Mr. O’Keeffe, will comment.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: In 2010, the Central Bank had undertaken a broader view of the industry 
to see what were the issues that were pertaining.  They had identified some issues in relation to 
terms and conditions that existed.  At the time there was a restitution or a group of customers 
identified within AIB, within our broker business, who had specific terms and conditions that 
were not clear in terms of what would happen with the outcome post the fixed term piece.  As 
we have identified in our document, there were 200 customers restituted or redressed at that 
point in time.

In addition, one of the key findings of the review conducted by the Central Bank at the time 
was that, in general, there had been no process around warning customers as they were stepping 
off a tracker on to other things, or changing the contract for different reasons.  There was no 
warning in place to the customers.  That was one of the key findings at the time, and that was 
implemented at that point to create that warning as people would exit.  That would have then 
pertained to customers in all of these groupings.  In terms of the 4,000 customers, and the 900 
customers, that warning letter would have been put into place to protect customers as they went 
forward.  

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Mr. Byrne, when customers approached and argued with AIB 
that it had done them wrong, did any of those customers come from the category of individu-
als who had a contractual obligation?  AIB now recognises that those people had a contractual 
obligation under law but AIB denied them that right at the time.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The clearest contractual obligation one, and the first one that we came 
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across, was in respect of the price promise issue under the EBS contractual piece.  That was 
the first one that we really became aware of that said, “Actually, there is an issue here.”  That 
was because there was a price promise in terms of a commitment to the customer, which had 
not been reflected in the way that rates were dealt with as those customers moved from one 
contractual position to another.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What is the answer?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: I can talk about that grouping, Deputy.  The initial 3,500 people were 
made up of over 30 different groupings in terms of what happened.  I know that the Deputy does 
not favour the use of the term “unintended consequences” but various circumstances created 
each of those groupings.  The grouping that Mr. Byrne referred to was the grouping that came 
to light in 2015.  We have talked about the prevailing tracker item.  That was something that we 
were aware of in terms of the contract status of that.  The EBS grouping that emerged at the time 
was whereby customers had moved from one rate to another rate.  In the first rate that they were 
on they had been given a price promise that their rate would never go above a certain percent-
age.  When they had been moved that promise was dropped.  They had lost that promise.  At 
that point, when we identified that issue and, indeed, with the other issues that were emerging in 
the market, what was identified was - and we have spoken a lot about the groupings just now - 
that there could be inherent issues in the book that had not come to light during that intervening 
period.  That is then what caused us to go through the analysis and resulted in the-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am aware of that, in terms of 2015.  AIB deserves a pat on the 
back for finally taking action in 2015 on the EBS stuff and at a time when the courts had decided 
that banks - AIB’s competitors - were wrong and were involved in what I would call “grand 
theft” of their customers.

I shall return to discussing the customers who came knocking on the door of AIB.  They told 
AIB that they believed they were contractually robbed by it in terms of not being given a tracker 
mortgage.  Has any of those customers been put back on a tracker mortgage?  Whatever about 
the ombudsman, the first port of call is that AIB must tell its customers that they are wrong and 
that the bank is right.  Has AIB reversed any of its decisions that it made in those earlier years?  

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Any of the customers who are under the terms of the framework in the 
positions that the Deputy had talked about will have been restituted and redressed or are part of 
the restitution programme.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Does Mr. Byrne believe that the original decisions made by AIB 
were wrong?  Are they admitting that the original decisions were wrong?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have clearly made different decisions now than were made over 
that time period so we have changed those decisions for the reasons we have talked about.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: We are dealing with AIB here but all of the banks are the bloody 
same.  All of them did the same.   None of these 9,000 customers ended up better off with more 
money in their pockets.  They were not granted additional houses.  AIB took the houses off 
them.  This committee will hear from the Bank of Ireland that it did the exact same thing.  We 
are supposed to believe that this issue arose due to unintended consequences.  We are supposed 
to believe that some of the highest paid individuals in the history of the State sat around board 
tables and decided to discontinue a product in 2008 without realising that 9,000 of their custom-
ers had a contractual obligation.  I cannot swallow that guff and I do not think the bank should 



23 January 2018

15

ask the public to swallow it.  It was in the interest of the bank to move people off trackers.  What 
I have heard here is that anybody who could have been moved off was moved off.  The only 
problem that the officials had as bankers, and I am not talking personally but AIB corporate, is 
that they could not get rid of the other hundreds of thousands of people who had trackers at that 
point in time because they clearly had it written into their contracts.  As a result, AIB could not 
figure out a way to swindle them out of their own money.  That is what I believe happened and 
I think it will continue to happen.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I do not share that perspective.  Hindsight often makes it easy to have 
a certain narrative.  At the time those decisions were made, rates were where they were and 
decisions were made.  We have gone through an unprecedented period in terms of the decade 
that followed.  We have talked, it is to be hoped openly, about the issues that occurred with each 
customer grouping as they happened and developed.  That is the situation.  Our job is trying to 
fix that and move the issue forward, but we have a different perspective.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: How many legal cases are against AIB relating to this?  These 
are just numbers.  How many legal cases is AIB facing relating to the tracker mortgage issue?  
How many notices of legal action has AIB been given?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: All legal cases that were in progress are now covered within the im-
pacted groupings.  There are a number of cases that have chosen not to go down the appeals 
route.  We are awaiting their position with regard to whether they are going to progress on the 
legal piece.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am going to ask Mr. Byrne questions that the committee already 
asked him.  In my view, we have not been given the information.  The question concerns the 
number of legal cases currently involving the lender and trackers.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: A total of 26 cases are ring-fenced with the impacted customer base.  
While there are a number where the customers have chosen not to go the appeals route, the rest 
of the cases will be resolved as part of the impacted base.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What are the number of homes repossessed by the bank that 
should not have been repossessed of which the bank still has ownership?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: As I said earlier, none of the family homes that were lost in this review 
were repossessed.  They were part of a working through with the customers at the point-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Voluntarily surrendered.  How many of them does the bank still 
have a hold of?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: We have a number of properties.  I think we have two properties at this 
point but-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is the bank going to give them back?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: We have offered the properties back to some customers but in some 
instances, they would prefer to take the redress as opposed to the properties.  That is a compli-
cated reasons as to why-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: If they want the property back, will the bank give it back?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Yes.
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Deputy  Pearse Doherty: With regard to question number eight, which concerned how 
many impacted customers have yet to be contacted by the bank, Mr. Byrne asked us to refer to 
question number two but that answer does not exist with regard to question number two.  How 
many of the 9,348 customers have yet to be contacted by the bank?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The two newer groupings, which we have run through, the 900 and 
the 4,000, were only identified within the December time period so we cannot say they have 
been identified and communicated with at this point in time because we have not completed 
the identification process in respect of all those customers.  That is the reference to question 
number two.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: So the answer to that question is that the bank has not contacted 
4,900 customers.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Those two groupings.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I know Mr. Byrne does not want to say the number but it is 4,900 
customers who have not yet been contacted by AIB to tell them they are affected customers.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Those are the two groupings, yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: With regard to the 158-----

Chairman: We must move on.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Okay, I will finish.  This is my last question.  The 158 and 171 
customers who still have not had rectification, redress or compensation may have been identi-
fied up to two years ago - actually since 2015 when the bank began its so-called investigation.  
Have they all been contacted?  Why has it taken so long to give them back their money?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: Those particular customers would have been identified in quarter 4 of 
last year in October, November and December.  They will be contacted over February and early 
March for rectification, redress or compensation.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: I thank Mr. Byrne for his presentation.  Obviously, when 
the decisions were being made originally, the bank sought legal advice as to whether it could 
end the contracts and what its contractual obligations would be.  It sought legal advice specifi-
cally.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Again, this is us reviewing 2008.  The decision was made around the 
new product going forward.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Yes, but that would have been done on the back of legal 
advice because with any situation where there are contracts involved, one obviously checks 
them against the contracts.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No, the offering would have been about the tracker rate offered to a 
new customer who walked into the branch at that point in time.  The decision was that this of-
fering was being taken away so that was that decision.  As far as I can see, it would not have 
involved a legal consideration about whether that would or would not have been offered to 
customers.  What we have talked about is that clearly the consequence of that, which was much 
more detailed and involved, as we now know, was not properly thought through, so that would 
speak to the point about which the Senator is talking, which is that if people had really thought 
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it through, they would have gone through that process, but that did not happen.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: The fact that legal advice was not sought is astonishing.  
That is the first thing anybody would do in terms of changing somebody’s contract or looking 
at somebody’s contractual obligations.  It is absolutely astonishing.  I have a question about the 
4,000 people who had the contractual right to a tracker.  Why are they different?  Why are they 
not getting full redress and compensation?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: These are customers who never had a tracker and who, according to 
the contract, had a right to be offered the prevailing rate tracker.  As I mentioned, the decision 
made was that this product would have been priced at a level that would have made it unattract-
ive so it was withdrawn from the market.  Therefore, the decision was that these customers were 
not disadvantaged from a commercial point of view because the prevailing rate tracker would 
have been unattractive and that is why they are not included in the confines of the other option 
about which the Senator is talking.  That is the answer to the question.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: The fact that an amount is taken and there is no compensa-
tion or redress for them is grossly unfair.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No amount was taken from these customers.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Sorry?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No amount was taken from these customers.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: No, but there was a contractual obligation, as Mr. Byrne 
said himself when he described them.  Have we been given a list of the 30 different customer 
groupings that AIB examined in the first instance to see whether they were entitled to compen-
sation or redress?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is not a-----

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Can Mr. Byrne submit that to us so we can have a look at 
it?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes, we can.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Has AIB received a letter from the Central Bank about the 
responsibility for senior management of the banks to report to the Garda if it sees a violation of 
the regulatory code?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: In general, we cannot comment on anything the Central Bank does or 
does not do to us but I know it mentioned it when it was here so the answer is “Yes”.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Has AIB submitted any reports to the Garda on the back 
of that?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Is Mr. Byrne concerned about the significant legal obliga-
tions?  Does he think any of the banks are concerned about the significant legal obligations 
about which the Central Bank spoke the last day regarding potential breaches?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I cannot comment for other institutions.  We understand our obliga-
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tions and have complied with them.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: How can people going into an AIB branch today be sure 
they are getting the right product for them?  Will Mr. Byrne explain to us how the culture within 
the banks has changed so that this will never happen again?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: If we go back to the starting conversation with Deputy McGrath, we 
talked about how the decision that was made clearly did not think of the consequences.  Cer-
tainly in terms of processes and procedures that exist at this stage, all products and all product 
decisions think forward and backwards in terms of the impact and the obligations.  We have a 
full understanding of the obligations that sit in every product and every contract and we have 
done a lot of work to make sure we understand those, which was not the case historically.

We have had a complete change in terms of the leadership, the board and senior manage-
ment teams across the organisation.  This is to give us a fresh perspective on where we are.  We 
have introduced quite a diverse leadership team in terms of banking and non-banking positions 
to make sure we have a different perspective.

We have a performance management system across the organisation that in respect of the as-
sessment of individual performance assesses 50% on what someone does and 50% on how they 
go about doing it so how people do their job, and that includes interactions with customers, is 
just as important as what they actually get done.  Historically, effectively, 100% of assessment 
would have been on the what side.  We have a net promoter score system that allows us 30,000 
individual customer contacts every quarter to understand the customer’s perspective in respect 
of each of our product offerings and each of our customer journeys and we rank, rate and track 
those.  In respect of complaints, which historically would not have been analysed as forensi-
cally, we have a complaints team that effectively analyses them and looks for root causes.  Even 
small modest numbers of complaints would be picked up now and we would understand what 
the underlying causes were in respect of those.

Staff engagement is very important.  We have spent a significant amount of time working 
with our own staff to understand what they feel about the organisation.  We carried out our first 
assessment in respect of that in 2013.  Obviously morale was very low at that time and the posi-
tion was very difficult.  The bank was ranked very low at the fifth percentile in terms of compa-
rable organisations in a worldwide survey.  When we last completed the survey in November, 
we had reached the 62nd percentile, which is quite good and shows we are moving in the right 
direction, with engaged staff, interest in the customer and having adopted a number of pillars 
across the organisation.

I ask my colleague, Mr. Mulhall, to answer the Senator’s question on the customer perspec-
tive in terms of bank branches.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Mr. Byrne has said that 500 people are currently working 
on tracker mortgages.  Were they recruited from outside of the bank?  Did those people already 
work for the bank but were assigned to this new role?  What will happen to them when this 
tracker issue is sorted out?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is a combination.  The majority of them would be staff in AIB who 
have moved from different parts of the bank to this programme.  Some external people have 
been recruited for the programme specifically.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: How much has been invested in the IT system in the past 
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couple of years?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: In the past six years it is probably about €1.5 billion.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Is that enough investment to protect people from this hap-
pening again?  It is despicable that even though decisions were made to take money off people, 
the systems have been blamed.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have identified a whole series of issues.  Let us remember that 
we have had to fix the bank.  During the period that we are talking about the bank lost €19 bil-
lion operationally and an extra €9 billion of losses was associated with the transfer of assets to 
NAMA.  That is the size and scale of what happened operationally.  Over the period we have 
taken €450 million of operating cost out and grown the income side by €800 million, so €1.3 
billion has been dealt with in respect of that.  A lot of things have happened and changed across 
the organisation, including building much more resilient and much more reliable systems.

The conduct agenda and the prudential regulation agenda have moved on hugely.  There-
fore, the amount of supervision and intervention in the organisation is radically different.  We 
are moving in a direction.  We have not in any way achieved what we want in terms of the final 
position but I think we are on a journey to get to a better place.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Is Mr. Byrne saying that something like this can never hap-
pen again?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is the whole purpose of what we are about.  We want to make 
sure we build more resilient systems and more resilient management structures and account-
ability across the organisation.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: I will leave my questions at that, a Chathaoirligh.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Will Mr. Byrne tell me how much AIB benefited in monetary terms 
from these decisions that led to scamming people either out of their right to a tracker or in terms 
of the wrong margin?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I do not have an exact number.  I would put the context the other 
way around.  We will have a different view on prevailing rate.  Let us all accept that we have a 
different view.  Approximately speaking, the total number of customers under this framework 
who are being put into a position where a tracker has been reinstated for them is about 4,000.  
The approximate income, and I will try to estimate the number based on average balance, is 
about €170,000.  The interest rate differential is probably between €15 million to €20 million 
per annum in terms of the operational impact across the organisation.  This was at a time when 
the overall income and cost base of the bank changed by €1.3 billion.  It would not have been a 
logical place for the bank to focus a lot of resources on getting this deliberately wrong.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Please round that figure up.  On the basis of the number of years 
this matter has been in operation, is Mr. Byrne saying that the bank benefited by around €100 
million?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The numbers will start to link back into the overall amount of the 
compensation payments that we are talking about.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Will Mr. Byrne give me an overall amount that he thinks AIB ben-
efited as a result of this matter?
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: By the time we have made our final determination - I do not know the 
final number so I am not going to guess the final number - it is going to be somewhere north of 
€50 million but probably south of €100 million.  I do not know.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Let us say it is €80 million, which is probably an underestimate.  Is 
Mr. Byrne saying that it is a happy coincidence that the bank made a decision not to offer tracker 
mortgages which had unforeseen and unintended consequences in the form of a benefit to the 
bank of between €80 million and €100 million?  Is the windfall purely a happy coincidence for 
the bank?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Let me make two other comments on that.  First, plenty of other mis-
takes were made that went the other way.  We do not talk about them, nor should we, because 
they are issues where we found that the bank was equal in terms of the flaws on the other side.  
Those are issues that clearly are not of importance in terms of fixing a customer issue because 
the customer benefited and he or she kept that benefit.

Second, because of the size of the bank and its balance sheet, it is very hard to make a small 
mistake. Any mistake that is made will end up being a big financial mistake.  It is a business that 
makes in excess of €1.2 billion of operating profit.  We have a balance sheet of close to €100 
billion.  Therefore, a very small mistake multiplied by that will mean we will end up dealing 
with large numbers.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: To call it a very small mistake is really dangerous.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I did not.  What I said was any mistake the bank makes, no matter 
how small, will end up having a consequence.  I was giving a context.  I did not talk about this 
issue in that regard.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: It is purely what Mr. Byrne has said.  He minimised the issue.  He 
has said that, in the context of all of the money that the bank has, it is not that much money and 
it is purely a coincidence that the bank benefited from the mistake.  He said that, first, it is a 
coincidence that the bank made decisions that resulted in people not being entitled to go back 
onto tracker mortgages.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  I have also said that during or around that period, the bank lost 
€19 billion operationally from what it was doing.  The bank was not in a position to make the 
right decisions for a whole series of things.  That is the context I tried to provide.  We are look-
ing at this issue, rightly, as an issue that affected individual customers and should not have oc-
curred.  To put the matter in context, there are a series of other things that need to be borne in 
mind.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: I am not sure about the relevance of the point made about the finan-
cial loss but I am interested in exploring the matter further.  As I understand from the opening 
statement, the decisions made about tracker mortgages were not made as decisions to improve 
the profitability of the banks or to deny people’s contractual rights to a tracker mortgage and 
that these were an unforeseen consequence.  Is that what Mr. Byrne has said?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The clear decision that was made to impact the profitability of the 
bank was to take the product out from new customers.  The piece that flowed over the decade 
that followed was not part of that decision piece.  The decision piece was around a new product.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Is Mr. Byrne saying a decision piece was taken not to continue to 
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offer tracker mortgages to new customers?  Correct.  Is he saying that it was an unforeseen and 
unintended consequence and meant that people who were coming off fixed mortgages were not 
entitled to what they were entitled to, which was to go onto tracker mortgages?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Based on what we have looked back on and seen at that point in time, 
that is what we have determined.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: It was not a decision to improve profitability, that part of the con-
sequence.  Is Mr. Byrne saying that it just flowed as an unfortunate but automatic consequence 
of the first decision?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Therefore, the relevance of the loss of the €19 billion does not play 
into this unless one accepts-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  I identified that it was not a unique decision that was made at one 
point and it was not the only decision or frame of reference as to where the banking sector was 
as that point in time.  That is my only point.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Yes.  In Mr. Byrne’s narrative that explains the first decision.  It 
does not explain the consequence unless he accepts that there was a conscious mind, in terms of 
the consequence.  As I understand from his statement, he does not accept that.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The evidence that I have does not suggest that.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: How does that relate to the decision about margins?  I understand 
the logic that says we have withdrawn this product from the market and, therefore, when cus-
tomers come off their fixed mortgage we will not offer a tracker option to them.  How does that 
relate to the decision to charge people an incorrectly high margin?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Sorry, we have pointed out that was not a tracker decision, as we have 
talked about it here.  When we looked back at all of these accounts as part of the review, we 
discovered that some of those customers had for a period been charged the wrong margin.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Did the bank find anyone who was charged a lower margin?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Absolutely.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Were more people on the higher margin than on the lower one?  
Was it more a sum of money than a hike at the other end?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It appears, although we did not carry out a detailed analysis, that the 
errors that occurred happened with equal frequency either way.  More than 7 million adjust-
ments were made to mortgage accounts over that sort of time period.  That is the context in 
which errors were made.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: The essential argument is that in terms of the consequence of the 
decision not to offer tracker mortgages to new customers, existing customers were denied their 
contractual rights.  Effectively, that was an unforeseen consequence and a happy coincidence 
from the point the view of the bank’s profitability and that alone; it was not a happy coincidence 
from anybody else’s point of view.  

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As we have said, with respect to the way that period flowed thereafter, 
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it did not emerge instantly, in terms of the experience based on what was happening, that this 
was a big problem, as we have discussed.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: There is another coincidence, which is the fact that all the banks 
that were offering tracker mortgages made similar decisions around the same time.  Does Mr. 
Byrne have any explanation for that?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is exactly the explanation we have provided, which is that at the 
time the banks were substantially, and certainly in terms of any marginal funding, funded by 
wholesale markets, which were providing funds to the banks at European Central Bank, ECB, 
rates.  The collapse of those markets dislocation meant that the banks could not fund with the 
ECB anymore, so, therefore, it could not offer a product at that rate.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: I understand all that as to why they stopped offering tracker mort-
gages-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It happened to everyone at the same point in time.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: -----but what I do not understand is why people were denied their 
contractual rights.  I do not understand how that flows.  Mr. Byrne is saying that was a mistake 
made by AIB as an unforeseen consequence but the idea that the same mistake was made by all 
the banks at the same period of time, and that it all just happens to have improved the profit-
ability of the banks, is quite hard to accept, is it not?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Again, one either accepts or does not that there were effectively two 
discrete parts to the process that we are talking about, one was the withdrawal decision, which 
was made in 2008 because of what was happening in the marketplace.  The other sets of deci-
sions that were made occurred over a period of time.  For example, in 2011, the forward ECB 
rate was at 3.5%.  That was the market rate for ECB rates.  It was not immediately obvious in 
2011, for example.  We are looking back at the history of this where a tracker product at that 
point in time was instantly the best product because the market was assuming that ECB rates 
were getting back to that level at that point in time.  However, they did not; we all know that 
did not occur.  It was not that there was a light switch moment that occurred forever and that we 
moved to a decade of incredibly low rates; some of those things evolved afterwards.  There is 
a separation in terms of one decision and then the consequences played out in a different time 
period.  It should have been thought through-----

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Sure.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: -----so I am not saying that should not have happened.  There should 
have been an analysis done of those individual contractual positions to understand how decision 
one affected all the others; it was not done.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Again, Mr. Byrne is saying it is a coincidence, an unforeseen and 
unintended consequence, that all the banks implemented their decision to withdraw trackers, 
which had a commercial profitability basis to it, in the same mistaken way to deny their custom-
ers’ contractual rights.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I can only speak for AIB and the 30 customer groupings.  It was quite 
a diverse set of customer groupings.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Is Mr. Byrne aware of any contact between AIB and other banks 
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on this issue from time to time?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I am not.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: We have two possible explanations for this.  One is this whole 
series of happy coincidences that happened to enhance AIB’s profitability and other banks’ 
profitability, or the other possibility is that the banks and AIB consciously took the decision to 
defraud their customers, but AIB expect it to be the first one, that it was just all these coinci-
dences and unforeseen consequences.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have outlined, based on what we have looked at and what we have 
seen from what evidence was there, how the two aspects of that have evolved.  Obviously, what 
we have tried to do since 2015 is to move to the position of solving all these issues.  People will 
have different perspectives.  I can give the Deputy my perspective, which I have done.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Has Mr. Byrne ever heard Bertolt Brecht’s expression about banks 
when he said bank robbery is an initiative of amateurs, true professionals set up banks?  Does 
Mr. Byrne think that is accurate in terms of the bank’s ability to rob its own customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Chairman, I do not think that is a question I can answer.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Of course Mr. Byrne can answer it.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is not one I can answer.  The Deputy is asking me to repeat a quote 
that he has made to me.  I do not think that is-----

Deputy  Paul Murphy: No, I am not asking Mr. Byrne to repeat the quote.  I am asking 
him if he thinks that banks, as they have done in this instance, in many instances in the past and 
are likely to do in the future as long as they are run on the same basis, are likely to rob their 
customers.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have already outlined to the Deputy my view.

Chairman: Can the Deputy put a question to Mr. Byrne?

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Okay.  I will ask Mr. Byrne a question about culture.  Does he agree 
that there is an ongoing cultural problem in AIB, as has been suggested by the Governor of the 
Central Bank and the Minister for Finance?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have outlined previously that we take the issue of developing and 
continually improving culture very seriously.  We have taken a series of steps in the organisa-
tion.  We believe that those are taking hold and we are developing and delivering a different 
type of organisation as we go forward.  We think we are on the journey.  I do not accept the point 
that we have not tried to do anything.  We are trying to do things and some of those are having a 
meaningful impact in terms of how the organisation is different and is improving.  This issue is 
a scar and is not one that any of us would have wanted to happen but, in terms of the overall per-
spective of what we are trying to do, we are trying to improve the organisation and the culture.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: To the extent that Mr. Byrne accepts there were and perhaps are 
still some cultural issues, do he agree with the description by the Governor of the Central Bank, 
Mr. Lane, that it is a culture of seeking profitability to the detriment of the banks’ customers?  
Is that what the problem is?
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: As I outlined, one of the objectives of our changing the performance 
management system is clearly to do the opposite of that, it is to make people focus equally on 
how we go about doing what we are doing.  We have four pillars in the organisation that we try 
to build everything around, the first of which is customer first.  We know we have more to do 
on it, but that is absolutely where we are at.  Does Mr. Kinsella want to say anything further on 
that?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: A good example of that is the way we have dealt with complaints as we 
have moved forward.  We now have a centralised complaints team to make it much easier for 
customers to get satisfaction.  That has reduced waiting times from 28 days down to 11 days.  
That team is based in Limerick.  In every branch in the country we have a resolver role, which 
is played by somebody senior in the branch who is authorised to deal with complaints involving 
up to €750 on the spot, to deal with a complaint from a first point of contract for a customer.  
That is an example of how we are trying to put our customers first.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: To some degree Mr. Byrne accepts that there was an issue cultur-
ally in the past.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: What we have accepted is that our job is to build a different bank from 
the one that was there in the past, so, yes, we are trying to get to a different position.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: When Mr. Byrne looks back at the culture that existed then, forget 
about now, would he agree with that description, of that fundamentally being an important ele-
ment of what was wrong with the culture, a culture of seeking profitability to the detriment of 
the bank’s customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Even in our banks and in our opening statement we have said that, 
with the benefit of hindsight, the approach that was adopted in the earlier phases of these was 
too bank centric.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: I have two questions regarding the prevailing rates issue.  Is it the 
case for EBS customers who were never on a tracker that they should have been offered a track-
er?  In their contracts is the same language used in terms of the prevailing rate non-specified for 
EBS customers, as it is for AIB customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I will ask Mr. Mulhall to respond to that point.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: No, Deputy.  The contracts are very different.  EBS was a separate 
entity at the time, so the contracts have very different wording.  The EBS contract is unique 
and very different from the AIB situation around the prevailing rates.  In terms of the decisions 
we have made, 1,600 people have been restored to their tracker product now within EBS, as 
we described earlier.  It is largely around the price promise issue and the incorrect supplying of 
terms and conditions associated with a product that gave a customer the perception of a right 
associated with that product.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: In the case of this grouping of EBS customers, there would have 
been mention in their contracts of a specific rate as opposed to the prevailing rate.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: Yes.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: These are customers who did not sign up to a tracker but it is in 
their contracts as-----
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Mr. Robert Mulhall: Specifically, the customer was given what we call a price promise-----

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Yes.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: -----where it was said their product would never exceed 1.5% above 
the ECB rate and the customer switched from that product to a different product but that pro-
tection did not carry with them, and we are now fixing that and reverting the person to it.  It is 
worth nothing there is also a group within those 1,600 EBS customers, for whom, contractually, 
that price promise never existed but through an operational error the wrong terms and condi-
tions were issued to those customers, and we are doing right by those customers by putting them 
on the same conditions now as well.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Mr. Byrne made reference in his opening statement to difficulty 
compounded by limited legacy IT systems and operational failures in AIB and EBS when they 
merged in 2011.  I am dealing with the case of an EBS customer who seems to fit into this 
category.  He is in communication with the bank in terms of redress etc. and it has said that he 
should have been sent a letter and it thinks he may have been sent one, including his entitlement 
to a tracker mortgage but it cannot locate it.  Would that be something related to this in the sense 
that a communication has been lost as a result of the systems being reconciled?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It would depend on the individual’s circumstances.  We would be 
happy to look at any individual case, the issues involved and understand it.  The comment about 
the systems was more to do with the obligations under individual contracts not being recorded 
as system events and, therefore, as people moved from one to another those obligations did not 
move in the system, and given the volume, if one does not do that, one cannot track how these 
play out.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: Thank you.

Chairman: I call Senator O’Donnell.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I welcome Mr. Byrne and his colleagues.  I wish to clarify a 
number of points.

In Mr. Byrne’s presentation on how the bank responded, he said:

[T]he difficulty was compounded by limited legacy IT systems and operational failures 
in AIB and EBS when it merged with AIB in 2011.  The systems did not record the bank’s 
proper commitments and obligations to its customers.  

Did that relate to both EBS and AIB?
Mr. Bernard Byrne: To clarify the way that was meant, because it has been raised twice, 

we are not saying the integration of the two caused a problem.  When EBS merged in 2011, it 
was apparent that it had the same system issues.  That is the way that has been described.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: So, effectively, it related to both banks.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It related to both banks.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: There is an element of “the dog ate my homework”.  It is an 
incredibly large institution.  How many solicitors are employed in AIB?  Typically, how many 
are employed in-house?
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: Probably about 100.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Mr. Byrne is saying that someone looking in-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is now.  That was not the case before.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I have no doubt there were still 50, 60 or 70.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Most of them are probably to do with the customer difficulty area at 
this stage so it is a different number.  I do not know how many were there but it was a different 
number.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Either way, I know from dealing with the banks over the years 
that no one is more conversant in the detail of a contract than a bank.  I do not buy that argu-
ment.  I do not buy that the bank did not have a record of the commitments and obligations of 
the banks.  If the banks were enforcing them with customers, they would have them in chapter 
and verse.  It has echoes of “the dog ate my homework”.

Am I correct in saying the bank has identified, based on the figures I extracted from Mr. 
Byrne’s presentation, roughly 9,348 customers who are affected?  There are 3,509 in the first 
category, who were on the wrong tracker rate; 939 in the group who were on a higher margin 
than they should have been on; 4,000 in the group that signed up to a fixed rate but had the op-
tion at the end of the fixed rate period to go on the prevailing tracker at that time; and the final 
cohort of 900 customers who signed up on a tracker, went to a fixed rate, and although there was 
nothing definitive, they felt it was implied in the contract that they could go back on a tracker 
rate.  That figure comes to 9,348.  Is that the correct figure?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes, it is the same number that Deputy Doherty-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: We need to clarify with the Central Bank whether the figure 
we were provided with, which was 33,700, includes the 4,900 - the 4,000 customers, which was 
the cohort getting a voucher for €1,000, and the 9,00 customers who will receive redress and 
compensation.  If that is the case, the 4,000 and the 900, which adds up to 4,900, is a higher 
figure than the total number of customers that have been identified as entitled to redress and 
compensation.  Is that correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The Senator is correct in the numbers he has mentioned.  The distinc-
tion we make is in respect of the 4,000.  That 4,000 group is a group that is now included in the 
framework.  They are included in the Central Bank numbers.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Mr. Byrne believes they are included in the 33,700.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Is Mr. Byrne saying that of the 33,700, nearly 9,400, which 
is roughly 30%, relate to AIB?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.  As I said, the 4,000 is a different category of customer so, yes, it 
is in the number, but the category of issue there, which the Senator spent some time discussing 
with the Central Bank in terms of the prevailing rate issue, is different.  As I indicated earlier, 
we had not included it within the framework.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: We were told by the Governor of the Central Bank that the 
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normal compensation was on average 15% of the overall allocation.  That cohort of 4,000 
signed up for a contract in which one of the conditions was they could return to the prevailing 
tracker rate at the end of the fixed rate.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Be offered a tracker rate at the end of their fixed rate.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Surely it is a breach of contract on behalf of the bank if the 
tracker rate is not there when they come off their fixed rate.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.  This is the conversation that has been well rehearsed at this 
point in time.  The position we have, which is the one the Central Bank talked about, is that the 
prevailing tracker rate would have been at a prohibitively expensive rate and therefore the cus-
tomer was not denied an attractive commercial offer at that point in time.  Therefore, the com-
pensation is to do with the failure to deliver the contractual offer, not that there was a financial 
loss associated with not being offered that product.  It is a very different position than somebody 
who had an existing tracker margin and was able to go back to it.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Can I reconcile a figure?  I presume Mr. Byrne was talking 
about 2008 when he said in his presentation that “Contrary to a widely held view, approximate-
ly 104,000 AIB and Educational Building Society, EBS, customer accounts, which at the time 
of the decision were on tracker mortgage...”.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: What was the peak number of customer accounts on tracker 
mortgages?  Is that with AIB?  What was the peak figure between 2002 and 2008?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I do not know.  It could well be that number.  I would say it is very 
likely that number.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Will Mr. Byrne explain to me why the bank conducted an 
analysis of 650,000 accounts?  Will he explain why it was looking at that number of accounts 
when Mr. Byrne is saying the largest figure on trackers is about 104,000?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Any customer who was on a tracker at that point - the 104,000 - 
stayed on a tracker mortgage.  It is not true that they are all still on tracker mortgages today 
because some have redeemed their mortgages but effectively 77% of them are still on tracker 
mortgages.  That group did not change.  They probably were not subject to any review because 
effectively they were on a tracker, kept their tracker margin, and still have that tracker product.  
The contractual review was in respect of all the other contracts, amendments, modifications and 
top-ups that took place across both institutions over the period to understand if there was any 
correspondence or communication during that period, all the way back to 2002, which might 
have resulted in a consequential obligation in respect of tracker, open and closed.  It was a much 
broader time period.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: That was narrowed down to a cohort of 50,000.  At this point 
in time, apart from the 9,348 that have been identified here, will there be any more people that 
were affected by the tracker issue that will be found under this investigation?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The piece we are very comfortable with is the cohorts.  There are 
more than 30 groupings and we are now clear on all of those groupings and how they affect the 
tracker programme.  In respect of the final groupings, we do not want to call that number until 
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we are clear on it and we have only been including December.  We have not done all the veri-
fication work associated with customer identification for those latter two groups, the 4,000 and 
the 900.  They will be completed soon and then we will be able to say what those numbers are.  
There is not a new grouping coming in.  It is confirmation associated with those numbers.  All 
the other groupings have been through customer identification and verification.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Does Mr. Byrne believe the 4,900 to be the maximum figure?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is the number I said I cannot give the Senator certainty on.  I am 
comfortable that the two groupings capture all those customers but until we go back and apply 
the-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Does Mr. Byrne see any additional customers beside the 4,900 
of that cohort?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Those customer numbers could change.  Until we complete the iden-
tification work, we are not calling that number.  We are saying no different grouping will arise 
but we have to lock down the number of customers in respect of that.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Is it materially accurate?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Based on what we know, we have captured all the customer data but 
I will not call the number.  We have been through this before.  I will not call a number until we 
have completed the work in respect of it.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I want to deal with the cultural aspect of AIB.  Did AIB en-
gage in reckless lending in the period up to 2008?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There was a banking inquiry that looked at that topic.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I was a member of it.  There is a context to my question.  
Perhaps Mr. Byrne would give me his overview on it because I want to proceed to dealing with 
customers and get a flavour of the position on provisioning for loans.  Does Mr. Byrne believe 
the bank engaged in reckless lending up to 2008?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I was not in the bank at the time.  I have not carried out a forensic ex-
amination of what occurred at that time.  As the Senator knows well, there is a series of reports 
on it and they have different positions and conclusions.  I will not get into the issue of how that 
played out.  There is no doubt but that the period-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Does Mr. Byrne believe the bank engaged in excessive prop-
erty lending?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There is no doubt that the bank engaged in excessive property lending 
at that point in time.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: One of the ways that is manifesting itself is in the SME sec-
tor, in particular.  Many SMEs were given loans by AIB and other institutions.  Effectively, they 
borrowed on the strength of their core business but went into property.  The weight of the debt 
on the property side is leading to haemorrhaging for many in the SME and farming sectors.  
What type of provisioning has AIB carried out against these loans?  Has it written them down 
to recoverable amounts?  I want to get to a point where the people affected can get on with their 
lives.  Could Mr. Byrne explain the position?
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: I will make some introductory comments and then hand over to my 
colleague Mr. O’Keeffe.

We have talked a number of times in the past about our having adopted, quite a while ago, an 
approach basing all the decisions in individual cases on customer affordability.  We have been 
active in coming to compromise arrangements that right-size customers’ debt when they engage 
actively with us.  There is plenty of evidence to suggest that is exactly how we have gone about 
dealing with the issues customer by customer.  Mr. O’Keeffe might give a little more flavour 
on that.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: As the Senator can imagine-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I will outline the context because I have limited time.  The 
context is that many of the loans were backed by the value of the core asset, be it the farm or 
business.  Many of the borrowers now feel they are being held over a barrel by the banks in 
that the banks are seeking to realise the value of their debt through the sale of the asset that 
constitutes their livelihood.  Has AIB written the loans down to a point at which it can take a 
write-off on debt that is effectively based on development property, not the core asset?  Could 
the delegates answer quickly because I have to go to a vote?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is the approach we have adopted.  We have used the provisions 
created to write off debt as we engage in case-by-case restructuring with customers who engage 
with us, particularly those in the SME sector, to which the Senator referred.  We have got a very 
long track record.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Will the bank write off debt-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We do.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: -----to the point where it allows the core asset to remain unaf-
fected such that the borrower may be allowed to get on with his business?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We proceed on a case-by-case basis.  We need active engagement 
from the customer and we need full disclosure of the financials, but that is our core operating 
principle around affordability.

Chairman: I have a letter that I will not read but on which I want detail.  A customer of the 
bank was offered a tracker rate of 3.22% and has refused it.  The customer had not had an of-
fer of a tracker rate since the fixed-term period ended in 2010.  They have received no official 
confirmation of being impacted.  Is that one of the cases that is outstanding?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I will be happy to consider any individual case-----

Chairman: Generally speaking, is it 4,000-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: If my colleagues have got the gist of the question, they should feel 
free to answer.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: From what the Chairman describes, it sounds like that the customer is 
among that cohort who were never on a tracker rate.

Chairman: When they refuse the offer, what happens?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: In the contract, they have the option of a fixed rate.  Again, I am talking 



30

JFPERT

a little bit on the lines, to be fair in respect of the contract.  If I am thinking of the right contract, 
I believe the customer has the option of a fixed rate or variable rate if he or she was offered the 
prevailing rate.  If he or she decides not to take the prevailing rate, or if he or she did not come 
back to the bank at all, he or she reverts to the standard variable rate, SVR.  That is what is 
agreed.  If the customer has refused the prevailing rate, he or she selects either the fixed rate or 
standard variable rate.

Chairman: At some stage after the refusal, however, the bank has to go back to the cus-
tomer, or the customer has to engage with the bank.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There is a default position under those contracts of reverting to a stan-
dard variable rate.  In the absence of agreement, the standard variable rate is the default.

Chairman: But the negotiation can happen thereafter in terms of-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We would have to consider the individual cases.  With regard to how 
it works, I do not know whether Mr. Mulhall has anything to add.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: We are always happy to engage with any customer who has a ques-
tion about his or her contract or about where he finds himself as regards the options.  Based on 
what we know, the details given seem to indicate the most likely scenario we are dealing with.

Chairman: May I go back to a question I asked on the last occasion and on which I seek 
clarification?  What was the response on the Belfry issue and the investments?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I cannot remember the specific question.  As the Chairman knows, 
a number of the cases are subject to litigation so we cannot comment.  If there was a specific 
question-----

Chairman: There is an issue over the Belfry investment, part of which is subject to legal 
considerations.  Have the delegates examined this?  Obviously, if there are legal considerations, 
Mr. Byrne will not give me his view on it.

We receive correspondence here regarding Belfry, general overcharging within AIB on 
business loans and so on.  When the bank receives a number of complaints in this regard, does 
it conduct a general inquiry into how its rates are applied?  If there is overcharging, does the 
bank address it?  Did the bank examine the Belfry matter?  Is there any aspect of it that is not 
contentious or that will not end up in the legal arena?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The Belfry case is obviously a specific one associated with an invest-
ment product and a leverage product.  That was certainly well researched and a certain position 
has been adopted.  It is going through a legal process.

The general position on complaints is that we now have a very active approach.  We track 
individual complaints and try to identify any thematic issues that would not have arisen in the 
past.  This is to make sure we understand, where there is a series of complaints on a topic, the 
root cause and whether there is an issue such as the one the Chairman is talking about.

Chairman: Is that a change within the bank?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Chairman: On the issue I raised the last day, concerning the number of companies regis-
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tered, including Allied Irish Banks plc and Allied Irish Banks, plc – and the cases before the 
courts, is there any one entity that takes charge of all of that?  Is there a misunderstanding some-
where?  When the Government gave the bailout, for example, what bank did it give it to?  What 
company or vehicle is used to go to court?  Is there an overarching company that captures all 
this?  Does each separate entity brings the customers to court over differences?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: I will address it in two parts, if I may.  An issue has been raised regard-
ing the main company name, which is Allied Irish Banks, plc.  In a small number of cases — 
one can imagine the volume of cases — the comma was left out.  I will return to the question 
of the other entities in a moment.  What happens when the comma is left out?  From the bank’s 
perspective or from a litigation point of view, it is an error.  When the bank goes to court, there 
is first a request that the change be made.  The court satisfies itself that the debt is owed, that 
it is owed to the appropriate entity, that the issue is, for all intents and purposes, a clerical one, 
and that the bank is not trying to create a situation whereby the debt would be owed to a dif-
ferent entity.  In the cases that I have looked at, the court gets to that remedy in a reasonably 
straightforward fashion, moves on from that point and is able to deal with that because it is able 
to satisfy itself that this money is owing to the entity in situ.  We have multiple entities in the 
group.  Part of that was due to the merger of EBS in 2011.  My colleague would have talked 
through the volume of companies at the last meeting but I will address the different legal enti-
ties.  We will have EBS itself as an entity, EBS Mortgage Finance and AIB Mortgage Bank, 
where some of the mortgage loans are domiciled and therefore legal cases are taken under those 
legal entities.  The specific issue with the comma, as my colleague would have spoken about at 
the last meeting, arises in the instance that I highlighted.

Chairman: What about the other entities, such as the AIB mortgage entity?  The loan is 
taken by the customer from one of these entities.  Should there be a failing on the side of the 
customer which the bank pursues, that entity pursues it.  Is that correct?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Yes.

Chairman: It is not any other entity?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Yes.  Unless, as I described, because the Chairman may be referring to 
a specific case-----

Chairman: That is an error, is it not?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: If, for any reason, it was not the entity where the loan is domiciled, 
that could be the cause of an error.  I have not seen any of those to date but I have seen a small 
number of cases whereby the comma was deleted in error.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I have a few additional questions on the tracker issue.  Taking 
up Deputy Doherty’s suggestion, will AIB provide a pro forma mortgage contract in respect of 
the prevailing rate issue?  It would be a typical redacted contract which deals with the clauses 
3.2 and 3.6, and the letter of offer with customer details redacted.  If there are other variations 
which represent significant cohorts within that overall cohort, then that should be provided as 
well.  When Mr. Byrne was before the committee last month to speak on a different issue, he 
made remarks about the State’s shareholding in the bank.  They were interpreted as encouraging 
the State to sell additional shares in AIB.  The share price is approximately €5.62.  The market 
capitalisation of AIB is at approximately €15.2 billion.  Would that be correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is close.



32

JFPERT

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Give or take.  The initial public offering, IPO, share price was 
€4.40.  The share price is up by €1.22, approximately 28%, since the IPO.  Is that correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: There were reports in the media of the Minister slapping down 
what Mr. Byrne suggested here at the Joint Committee on Finance, Public Expenditure and Re-
form, and Taoiseach.  Has Mr. Byrne had a discussion with the Minister for Finance about his 
views on the State possibly selling more shares in AIB, either around the time of that committee 
meeting or subsequently?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  I answered a question which was asked at the time about my per-
spective on where the market was and where AIB was in the market.  That is what I answered.  
I read the detail of the comments that were made and I am not sure that I would have the same 
interpretation, but fundamentally I was expressing a view about where the bank is and where 
the markets are.  I have not expressed any different views since then.  I still think the markets 
are good.  We can see that.  It is not a unique insight on the position the markets are currently in.  
I cannot make any comment about the trading position of the bank right now other than to refer 
back to our December statement which said that we expect to deliver close in line with market 
expectations.  That is as much as I can tell the Deputy about any trading issues until we release 
our results.  I have not had a conversation with the Minister.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Has there been contact between the bank and Department on 
that issue?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As we said at the last meeting, it is ultimately very clear that the deci-
sions for any action the Minister and Government might take are for them to make.  That is still 
absolutely the case.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I will ask Mr. Byrne about loan portfolio sales to the extent 
that he can answer in a closed period.  What are AIB’s plans for the sale of further loan portfo-
lios in the period ahead?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The update would not be any different from the last time that we had 
this conversation which is that, overall, we have a programme to normalise our non-performing 
exposures, NPE, at the back-end of 2019.  That is our commitment.  It is a public position.  
We are working through that.  The majority of what we do is through individual case-by-case 
restructuring activity, but we have kept the issue of portfolio sales open.  I might turn to my 
colleague, Mr. O’Keeffe, for any comments he would like to make on it but we do not have any 
update on that position at this stage other than to say that we are aiming for the target set for 
the end of 2019.  We are making good progress, which is what we said in the trading statement, 
across our overall non-performing exposures, which is obviously helped by the position of the 
economy.  Increasing employment and increasing asset values make it easier for customers.  
That is all progressing well and is indicated on our statement.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is the quantum of non-performing loan, NPL, reduction 
that AIB is required to achieve by the end of 2019?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The general perception of where that needs to get to is for between 
5.4% and 5.7% of the loanbook to be in a non-performing exposure category.  It is probably 
twice that, approximately €3 billion, if put in terms of overall positions.  We have come from 
€30 billion down towards €7.8 billion over the last number we have declared, so we have car-
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ried out a huge amount.  The next stage is much more modest by comparison and we continue 
to work through that quite positively.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Is the €3 billion the amount in excess of the target?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is the nominal value.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Is that the overall or excess?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: That is the overall position which we expect to get to at that point.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: To get it down to €3 billion?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Between €3 billion and €4 billion, depending on the size of the balance 
sheet at that point.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is it currently?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Our impaired loans are currently €7.8 billion, as we last reported them.  
At that point, we were also reporting on performing exposures of €12.1 billion.  Under the ECB 
definition, there is an additional cohort of loans that comes in under the NPE definition.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: So AIB is required to reduce its non-performing loan exposure 
by between €4 billion and €5 billion in the next two years?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: That is correct.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Realistically, how much of that can AIB achieve by restructur-
ing and working with individual customers?  How much of it needs to be achieved by portfolio 
sales?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Right up to the point at which we transact any portfolio sales, we are 
open to engagement.  We highlighted to the committee previously that we continue to have our 
full team of approximately 1,500 people in place, working with customers in difficulty to find 
solutions.  While we have looked at that, we will need to execute loan portfolio sales.  In gen-
eral, we have absolute capacity to work with customers who come forward to us to work with 
us.  As we work towards that eventual position, we will determine what level of loan sales need 
to take place.  During 2017, while we are in a closed period, we continued to see really good and 
improving engagement with customers.  The Deputy will have recently seen that we announced 
new measures relating to our family home portfolio and mortgage-to-rent, which we have seen 
good performance with.  We are reaching out across the portfolio to find other solutions to try 
to engage with customers so that we can bring that to a solution in a restructuring manner.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is the latest position on Project Redwood?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We do not comment on individual projects reported in the media.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Even to the extent that that involves residential and non-
residential-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: What we have said, which is consistent with the statement from when 
we met in September, is that our overall approach has been to back-end and look in that context 
at anything associated on the residential portfolio side.  That approach is still consistent.
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Deputy  Michael McGrath: Picking up on Senator O’Donnell’s questions, there was an 
article in The Irish Times on 10 January of this year.  AIB sues more than twice as many borrow-
ers as Bank of Ireland.  It was based on an analysis of High Court cases and looked at summary 
judgment records.  It stated “AIB has scaled back its use of the hawkish “summary judgment” 
debt recovery tactic, but remains, by far, the Irish lender most likely to sue its customers in the 
High Court, according to an analysis of official records by The Irish Times.”  Court records 
show that in 2017 AIB applied for summary debt judgments on 755 occasions, down 37% from 
the 2016 level.  In 2016, AIB was four times more likely to apply for summary judgments than 
Bank of Ireland which in 2016 sought just over 308.  The evidence which is based on hard facts 
- actual court filings - seems to be that AIB is the most aggressive bank in pursuing SMEs and 
does so in an adversarial, litigious manner, namely, going to court to get summary judgments 
which then in some ways narrows the capacity to enable an agreement to be reached.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: I appreciate the Deputy’s reference to the article to which he referred.  
I will not comment on Bank of Ireland’s position, but it is clear when one looks at the balance 
sheets and the scale of the issue that faced AIB in dealing with non-performing loans - it con-
tinues to be the case - that they are of a different quantum.  That accounts for some, if not all, 
of the comparison to which the Deputy referred.  It also accounts for the fact, as he articulated, 
that the number was significantly down on the figure for 2016.  When one looks at the level, we 
had more than 5,000 restructures last year on the non-mortgage loan side and circa 5,000 re-
structures on the mortgage loan side.  We continue to work right alongside that level of activity.  
All of the solutions available to customers prevent us from ultimately having to go down the 
legal route.  To come back to the discussion we had on loan sales, we really encourage people 
to come forward and engage because the legal route is the route of last resort that we want to 
pursue.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: It is still a very significant number.  When the bank obtains a 
summary judgment against an SME, what happens then?  What prospect is there of an agree-
ment being reached to avoid repossession?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: When we receive a summary judgment, we are at the point of execut-
ing it and it could involve the repossession and disposal of assets.  At that point we still engage 
with customers and continue to engage if customers come forward and seriously want to do so.  
It is unfortunate that at times we must reach that point before there is real engagement, but we 
remain open as we move through the process.  As we see it, when we reach that point, in a lot 
of cases there is still an opportunity to engage, but for whatever reason the customer at the other 
end who owns the business is not willing to do so.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What does Mr. O’Keeffe foresee lies ahead in 2018?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: In terms of the quantum of cases going through the legal process.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is the landscape?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: We have been successful in getting the message through that we are 
open.  We stated when we were discussing it that we had been open for a considerable period to 
writing down debt.  We are realistic in that regard.  As we said, when customers come to us and 
want to solve the debt problem, we have options available.  We have created a unique structure 
for putting in place compromise debt arrangements where we split a loan into three parts in 
order that we can create a warehouse part and if the performance of the other notes works, we 
can write off that portion of the debt.  That process is working well for us.  With the come-back 
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in the economy, we are seeing a consistent level of restructuring and an appetite to engage, both 
at customer and adviser level.  I mentioned the numbers.  That is what we encourage because if 
there is engagement, it avoids us having to take the legal route which we have to do at a point in 
time to be fair to everybody.  One should also remember that at this stage we have restructured 
for more than 25,000 customers.  To be fair to them, they came forward and engaged with us.  
They engaged in an compromise and got on with the business.  To be fair to them, we must also 
make sure we take the appropriate action at the other end.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: How can Mr. O’Keeffe reassure people that the bank is con-
sistent because customers see high profile cases reported on in the media in which millions of 
euro and sometimes tens of millions of euro are written off by the bank and believe they are 
being pursued right through the courts system, ending up with a judgment and the sheriff being 
involved?  Surely in cases in which there is full disclosure by the borrower, there are up-to-date 
valuations on file and there has been a thorough assessment made, it is far better to deal with 
them in a non-adversarial and non-litigious manner and reach an agreement, even if it involves 
writing off debts rather than securing an asset in a very messy way that leaves a sour taste in 
the mouth?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Again, if there are specific cases, we are very open to dealing with them 
if the Deputy wishes.  However, for the sake of consistency, what we look at is affordability 
for the customer when he or she comes forward and we see the elements of the debt that can be 
addressed by him or her.  We then make decisions on what it is possible to write off and, as we 
discussed, the elements of non-core assets that could be sold in that regard.  I am very confident 
about the approach we have taken.  We have had several reviews of our consistency.  We work 
a very consistent policy and protocol to make sure there is consistency for borrowers.

Chairman: Will the delegates comment on the recent presentation made by Mr. David Hall 
of iCare?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I will ask Mr. O’Keeffe to respond.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: I think very shortly after we were last before the committee we an-
nounced an enhanced mortgage-to-rent scheme with Mr. David Hall of iCare which was em-
bracing the changes made to the overall mortgage-to-rent scheme.  As members know, while the 
mortgage-to-rent scheme is of noble intent, it had not delivered in a lot of cases over a five-year 
period.  In fact, at the point when we launched the scheme with Mr. Hall, a total of 260 cases 
had been completed over a five-year period.  The level of progress has been good.  For AIB, 
at this point we have completed a financial questionnaire in 325 cases, about 50 of which have 
been identified as suitable for the scheme, while 50 others will be suitable for other forbear-
ance solutions.  We are working through the remainder.  I also understand iCare has a number 
of cases outside AIB in which people are coming to it.  The pipeline of customers looks very 
good.  We have had very extensive engagement in recent weeks with our customers in the legal 
process to encourage customers to come forward to see whether this solution would be appro-
priate for them and the response has been positive.

Chairman: We had the presentation by Mr. David Hall.  His company covers loans other 
than ones with AIB.  Is Mr. O’Keeffe saying that, in the context of AIB, even though the com-
pany might have cases that are at court level, using iCare is a solution, it will encourage people 
to go for that option?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Not only that, but in the last couple of weeks we issued letters to almost 
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3,000 customers, many of whom are in the legal process, asking them to come forward and 
engage with us on the option of availing of the mortgage-to-rent scheme.  If customers express 
an interest, their cases will be passed on in due course to iCare.

Chairman: Is it the case that as customers respond to AIB, their cases are passed on to 
iCare?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: Exactly.  There are certain data protection and customer engagement 
pieces that we need to work through, but to be fair, the co-operation with Mr. David Hall’s or-
ganisation has been positive.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I thank Mr. Byrne for his opening statement and all of the del-
egates who have participated.  I apologise for having to leave temporarily, but there was a vote 
in the Seanad.  However, I was following the debate and a lot of the questions I might have 
asked have been dealt with.  The delegates should indicate if the following question has been 
asked as I am not sure if it has.  

On the level of compensation paid, we have seen average figures quoted, but what was the 
highest figure paid?  I know that there are average figures, but how much money did some 
people get back?  What was the highest level of redress?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As we said, there are clearly different tiers, if I can call them that, in 
terms of the impact on individual customer sets.  At the lowest level, it is effectively an advisory 
payment.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: That is the €1,000 plus the €615-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It could be even lower.  We have talked about €1,000 as a particular 
issue.  For some customers, it might be a very small amount.  At the upper end, it is obviously 
the homes lost issue, which we have talked about, and the average in respect of that is €146,000 
compensation.  That is an average, but it is a spectrum to give the Senator an indication.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: What was the highest amount of redress?  If the average is 
€146,000, some of them are at €70,000 or €80,000.  What was the highest?  Was it €500,000, 
€1.5 million-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It was €300,000.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: So €300,000 is the highest amount of redress that any customer 
got.  Did that relate to a home that a customer lost?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I will hand over to Mr. Kinsella.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: Yes.  That was in respect of a lost home.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Is that a pure redress amount or is compensation included?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: That is a compensatory amount.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: The highest amount of compensation was not €300,000.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: It was.  That is pure compensation.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: That is pure compensation.  What was the level of redress in re-
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spect of compensation?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: In general, with the compensation in the cases that we are talking 
about, it almost inverts.  So the level of compensation is generally multiples of the amount of 
redress.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: We saw percentages of compensation at approximately 15%, 20% 
or 25%.  Is Mr. Byrne saying there are some compensation payments that are multiples of the 
redress?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: For customers we are talking about in terms of a lost property, the 
amount of compensation, because I have described the process by which we do compensation 
- in other words we calculate the value of the home difference, we calculate the value of the 
future trackers, we are calculating a lot-----

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Was the opportunity cost associated with the house price in-
cluded?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Exactly.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: For someone who lost a house in 2012 and was trying to buy it 
back in 2016-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is included.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: ----- there was an increase in property values in the interim.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The redress amount might be quite small relative to the compensation 
amount, whereas at the other end it is the other way round generally; the redress amount might 
be higher than the compensation.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: That was a point I made last week.  I am sure someone in the AIB 
team watched our interaction with representatives from the Central Bank.  Someone who fails 
to make a payment to the Revenue is likely to incur penalties that are multiples of the amount 
owed.  However, here the compensation was 15%, 20% or 25%.  For the person who got the 
highest compensation of €300,000, what was the redress amount?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: I do not have that to hand at the moment, but the redress figure would 
have been considerably lower than €300,000.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Would have it been €250,000 or €80,000?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: I will confirm it separately, but I think it was under €100,000.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: In this case, therefore, the person got a multiple of in excess of 
three times the redress amount.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: At least.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Did that particular ratio of redress to compensation only apply in 
respect of repossessed homes?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As we said, at the upper end, that is the case.  The ratio generally 
works its way down.  For example, in the case of those on a higher incorrect rate for a short 
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period, when they have been addressed, the compensation, relatively speaking, would be small.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Was it 14 properties?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have said up to 14 properties.  We have not concluded the en-
tire-----

Senator  Gerry Horkan: We have not touched on this area before.  Let us talk about the 
highest amount of compensation somebody would have received - or redress and compensation 
combined - and then we can talk about the split.  While somebody with an incredibly expensive 
property or a very large property might not have lost it, the amount of redress and compensa-
tion could have been very significant albeit they had resources to sustain themselves one way 
or another through all this overcharging.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I do not have that statistic to hand.  The statistics we are talking about 
are obviously in respect of the homes piece.  We have not disclosed those.  When we get to the 
end of the programme, some of those statistics will emerge and we will be in a position to talk 
about what they are, but they vary.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I think it is important for us to understand the level of pain and 
suffering because averages can hide a lot.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Sure.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: If the average is €25,000 and 100,000 of those are €1,500 or 
smaller amounts, with the 80-20 rule, 20% of people might be feeling a lot of pain and the other 
80% might not be feeling so much.  It would be helpful if AIB were able to give us those figures.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We can come back.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: This is not a question I am asking exclusively; AIB happens to be 
the first.  I will be asking exactly the same of all the other banks if somebody else does not get 
to the question before me on the next occasion.  The committee will want to see those figures 
in as much detail as possible.

The bank is to provide us a list of the 30 groupings.  I ask Mr. Byrne to give us an idea of 
the diversity.  I know there are three main groups.  However, the 30 groups seems to involve an 
awful lot of different kinds of customers who are all dealing with tracker mortgages.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Sure.  We have identified - even in the course of this conversation - a 
few.  I will remind the Senator of those and then ask Mr. Kinsella to think about some of the 
others.  Mr. Mulhall talked about a set of EBS customers who signed up to an offer on one basis, 
but - in error - they were posted a set of terms and conditions that gave them a tracker-type offer.  
They signed up on one basis, which was fixed; we have put them on a tracker rate.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: In this case, AIB is compensating them for its own mistake in 
putting them on the wrong produce in the first instance.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.  That is one group-----

Senator  Gerry Horkan: However, it was AIB’s mistake.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Absolutely.
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Senator  Gerry Horkan: Rather, it was EBS’s mistake and AIB is now responsible for it.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There are roughly 500 customers in that one.  We have talked about 
the price promise piece, which effectively guaranteed a margin - I think it is 1.5 percentage 
points - above the ECB rate.  That is a separate group of about 600 customers.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: It was nearly 1,000.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Does Mr. Kinsella want to give some other examples?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: We have one where a change of borrower on the same mortgage - typi-
cally a couple splitting up - resulted in the loss of a tracker.  We are now restituting them back 
to their historical tracker mortgages.  That is approximately 200 customers.

There is also what we term “tracker not applied to top-up”.  Here, a person with a tracker 
mortgage applied for a top-up and the tracker rate should have been applied to that top-up but 
it was not.  We have restituted the top-up to that.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I might stop Mr. Kinsella because we could end up spending all 
my time talking about the 30 groups.  The witnesses have agreed to send us the list of those 30.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: Yes.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I ask about the 4,000 customers who will get the €1,000 plus the 
€615 for independent advice.  Is there a panel of people to which they have to go?  Is the bank 
writing them cheques for €1,615 or is it €1,000 and they have to bring in receipts for-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: They get the amount of money.  It is up to them as to whether they do.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Those 4,000 customers are getting €1,615 and if they do not want 
to spend €615 on legal advice, they can do whatever they want with it.  If they want to spend all 
the money and more on independent advice, it is up them.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Is the reason it has not been done yet that they have only just been 
identified or agreed to?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct, in December.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: That happened under a level of pressure from the Central Bank.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It was absolutely in dialogue with the Central Bank at that stage, 
which we had not-----

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Initially the bank would have regarded those as people it would 
not have been considering.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Within the framework.  The main discussion with the Central Bank 
was not disagreement on the treatment; it was including them within the framework and thus 
the compensation payments.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Okay.

Chairman: The Senator’s time is up.
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Senator  Gerry Horkan: That was the 4,000.  I am about to move on.  The 900 constitute 
the final cohort.  What is the reason they are still-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I ask Mr. Mulhall to take that.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: In that instance, the contract for those customers was quite clear; they 
do not have a tracker option on the expiry of their fixed period.  However, there was documenta-
tion as part of the statements relating to those customers which intertwined the use of the terms 
“tracker” and “variable mortgages”.  So they were offered a variable rate or a fixed rate when 
they finished their fixed-rate mortgage.  As a result of that confusion around the statement, these 
are judgment calls but we erred on the side of the customer to include them in the programme.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: At this stage.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: Yes.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Those 900 customers have not been compensated yet because 
the bank would have had a view until fairly recently that they were not part of their initially 
identified tracker-affected people.  The Central Bank had a different view and AIB has come 
to an agreement whereby it is now giving them compensation and redress.  In the case of the 
4,000, it is not enormous amounts of money relative to the €1 billion we were talking about 
with the Central Bank.  I accept that AIB’s provision is still €190 million.  With 4,000 getting 
€1,600 each, it will not be an enormous amount of money.  I take the point that small mistakes 
by a large amount of people can still be a lot.  Relatively speaking, it is not a gigantic amount 
of money in the context of everything that is going on.  AIB has 500 staff doing this.  Are they 
all contracted staff?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We touched on this earlier.  It is roughly two thirds internal staff and 
one third brought in.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Will the bank will find roles for the two thirds of internal staff 
who are doing this at some point or will there be a big lay-off?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The programme is still running and they came from other parts of the 
business to do that.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: If 95.5% of the first 3,509 are complete, what is left to do?  Some 
may appeal, and I understand they have a year to do so.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: They have a year from when they get the letter.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: They have a year from when they get the letter and the cheque, so 
we will not know until October or even December of this year, depending on when the cheques 
went out.  Many will leave it until the last moment to fire something in, meaning it could take 
longer.  There is not that much work left in respect of the original people.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There are the two groupings the Senator mentioned, and we will need 
to progress those.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: These are the groups of 4,000 and 900.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Is there much to do in respect of the 4,000 other than to give them 
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all €1,615?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Customer identification is the first thing to do and we need to make 
sure we have captured all those customers.  We did not have them in the framework and that is 
why we did not conclude this in time.  The process of compensating these is simpler than for the 
others.  The group of 900 will effectively be dealt with over the course of the final two quarters.  
The division as between this and the work in the first and second quarters is roughly 50:50.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: A total of 4,000 at €1,500 each would amount to €6 million and 
will bring up the bank’s provision but there remains a provision of between €50 million and 
€60 million.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The provision commentary involves a financial disclosure for the pe-
riod up to quarter 3, so it is a September number.  The numbers have been updated since then 
and we do not know exactly what it will be because we have not finished the work yet.  We will 
get through it in quarter 2 and we will then be able to definitely conclude where we sit in this 
respect.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: The final part of the jigsaw is those who appeal.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Correct.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: The bank will not know finally how many appeals are in the pot 
until 12 months from the date of the last cheque that was issued, which will be by June of this 
year.

Mr. Tom Kinsella: It will be 12 months from June.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Mr. Byrne is happy that the provision of €190 million is sufficient 
to cover AIB’s costs.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The update we gave to the market was that we are satisfied that the 
provision we have is materially correct.  We have not concluded all the work but any change 
would not be material in the context of where we are.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: The provision of €190 million from 2015 is purely for redress and 
compensation.  It is not for the costs of 500 staff.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is to rebalance the accounts for the future.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: What is the total cost of this saga when one includes the 500 staff 
at certain salaries?  It was said that this will cost €1 billion but a lot of that money is money 
that should not have been in the hands of the banks in the first place.  The money that was taken 
from people should not, in many cases, have been taken from them.  How much is involved in 
staff costs?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have not worked that out but when we get to the conclusion of this 
we will be able to do so.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I thank Mr. Byrne for telling us in his own words how the prob-
lem arose.  Up to now, we have not had a narrative other than that every bank made the same 
mistake at the same time.  Hopefully, by June Mr. Byrne will be back to give us an update of 
where we are and all customers will have received and cashed their cheque.
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Is the average 25% compensation figure Central Bank-led?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  We submitted our compensation to the Central Bank in 2016, as 
each individual institution had to.  We derived it by looking at other models and at Financial 
Conduct Authority issues in the UK, as well as at the circumstances in this case.  We had a dia-
logue with the Bank but it does not agree or approve it, though it notes it and may challenge it 
in certain respects.  We have been redressing customers since December 2016.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: The document is not published.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is not.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Is Mr. Byrne able to share it with us?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  We can give the principles of redress but we have not disclosed 
them at this point in time.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Could you give us the principles underlying the compensation 
process?  We were told those who lost their houses received a multiple but those who did not 
got something else.  Can the witnesses give us some idea as to why the rates being paid are such 
as they are?

Mr. Tom Kinsella: The first step on the journey to putting the wrong right for customers 
was to stop harm, which meant we rectified any open account.  Then we entered into a process 
of rebuilding that account on a line-by-line basis.  The framework requires that we have to 
reset the account so that it is back in the position it should have been in.  We did that twice to 
make sure we got it right and then we passed it on to KPMG, who assured it for us.  Later in the 
process it was assured again by EY, on behalf of the CBI.  We then refund overpayments to the 
customer and give the customer a time value of money on the overpayments, which worked out 
at about 6% on average.  In line with that, we provide compensation based on a percentage of 
the interest overcharged.  We have four tiers of compensation, with 85% falling within tier 1, 
these being performing customers who were never in arrears.  The figure for these is 15%.  The 
next tier is customers who might have been in the legal process at some stage, who get 22% and 
the next set, where the property may have been sold but the rate was not causal, also get 22%.  
Finally, the most seriously impacted customers, where the property was sold and the rate was 
causal, got a 30% compensation level.  In the case of the last group, we also compensate for the 
future value of the tracker and any uplift in the value of the house since it was sold, and we write 
off any residual debt refund and any payments made on it.  We make a €50,000 incremental 
payment on top of that and finally, where applicable, we offer them the opportunity of a new 
tracker mortgage based on their old historic rate.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Can Mr. Kinsella send us a briefing note with an outline of his 
reply?  It would be useful to ask the other banks the same question.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The report will come out later this year but can we take it that the 
Government salary cap of €500,000 has not been breached in AIB?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: There has been no change.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What is the legal status of the cap?  Is it just an understanding?  
Is it enforceable?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is part of the placing agreements that were established in 2009 and 
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2010.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: How long will it continue for and how can it be lifted?  Has AIB 
requested that it be lifted?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The issue in respect of the placing agreements sits with the Minister.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Has AIB requested a change?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Which?

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Has AIB requested a change?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  We made a statement to the marketplace relating to remunera-
tion.  We said that, as the shareholder base developed different expectations over time, we 
would expect a normalisation to take place.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The Government lost €800 million in the context of the timing of 
the IPO.  Would that be an accurate statement?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is not the way I look at the world.  We have to look at the value that 
exists now.  AIB is a valuable asset, to a degree that I do not think people would have expected 
when this was discussed in 2014.  We are at the point where the combination of the value re-
ceived already and the market value that is implicit in the State’s 71% share is in excess of the 
total amount that the State put in.  At that point in time, we would not have collectively thought 
that this would be the situation in 2018.  The value realisation comes from having the listing as 
opposed to not having it.  There is always going to be a point at which the listing process must 
be undergone.  Markets go up and down.  I do not subscribe to the idea that there is a straight 
line process by which value will always grow as a result of market positions.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I know that.  Obviously value can go up and down.  How many 
months ago were the shares sold?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The sale took place in June.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is it not a statement of fact that the investors who bought the 
State shares are about €800 million better off than they were?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.  As Deputy McGrath mentioned earlier, the market has valued 
the bank more positively than the general market trend.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Many of us in this House argued for a postponement, because we 
expected that this was where it was going.  That being said, I will move on to the issue of tracker 
mortgages.  The period to lodge an appeal is 12 months, is that correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is a period of 12 months from the issue of the letter, I believe.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What will happen if the courts decide in some of the legal cases 
that AIB’s interpretation was wrong, for example around the prevailing rate issue?  I know this 
is a hypothetical question.  Will AIB voluntarily open up accounts to compensate those 4,000 
customers, or will it force them to go through the court system?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have outlined what we believe the position to be in this respect.  
I know that the committee has had a similar conversation with the Central Bank about it.  We 
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have gone through a fairly rigorous process with our own set of considerations.  The process has 
been challenged, including by the Central Bank, and we believe the interpretation is correct.  I 
am not going to comment on legal cases which may emerge.  If anything were to occur, I would 
need to see the world as it would be then.  I am not going to speculate.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Has AIB settled out of court in any cases around the tracker is-
sue?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We have not had legal cases on the tracker issue.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: There has been no out-of-court settlement.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is true to the best of my knowledge.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I wish to discuss the 4,000 customers to whom AIB will write at 
some stage-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Soon.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: -----starting next month, informing them that they are one of the 
impacted accounts.  In that letter, will the bank outline the prevailing rate as calculated by AIB?  
AIB will be saying to them that they are contractually entitled to a tracker mortgage, but be-
cause of the prevailing rate at the time the bank has calculated that they would have been worse 
off if they had had it.  Will the letter state the prevailing rate?  Will AIB tell these customers its 
calculation of the prevailing rate, so that they can make an informed judgment on whether to 
go to the Financial Services Ombudsman’s Bureau of Ireland and challenge that estimation?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have not seen the letter that we intend to send.  We have not yet 
written to these customers or scoped the writing of the letter.  However, I am happy to take that 
point into consideration.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The bank is going to start writing letters next week.  It will begin 
in February, is that correct?  There are 4,000 customers involved here.  I am sure somebody has 
considered that.  This is a fundamental issue.  AIB is making a call to the effect that they would 
have been worse off if they went on a tracker.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I presume that the basics of this-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The letter will outline-----

Mr. Tom Kinsella: We will outline the issue in the letter, and the customers will then be 
offered today’s prevailing rate.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Today’s prevailing rate.  They will be offered the rate of costs 
today.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As an option going forward, they will be offered the prevailing rate 
tracker.  For the period from now on, that will be a prevailing rate tracker as calculated today.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Yes, but the reason-----

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We will describe the issue that arose during that period, as the Deputy 
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has outlined.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I know that.  However, the reason that these individuals are not 
being given redress or increased compensation is that AIB has calculated that collectively and 
individually, they would have been worse off.  I presume that the bank has a duty to specify 
what the prevailing rate would have been when they came off a fixed rate, or when the option 
was available to them under the terms of the tracker mortgage.  I will say this; if the bank does 
not do that, I think it is in breach of an obligation to provide accurate and full information to the 
customer.  The letters should not say that the bank is awarding a customer €1,000 as they were 
contractually entitled to a tracker mortgage and the bank denied them this contractual entitle-
ment for the past seven or eight years, only to assert that the bank has internally determined that 
this rate would have been higher than what the customer has actually paid, but the customer 
will not be told what rate they should have been on.  AIB will have to tell them what that rate 
would have been.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As I have said, I have not seen the letter.  We have not finalised it.  I 
take on board what the Deputy says, but I cannot do any more than that at this point.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Perhaps Mr. Byrne can contact the committee and let us know, 
one way or the other, when a decision is made as to whether the bank will provide this informa-
tion or not.

I was going to ask the witnesses about iCare.  I welcome that initiative.  I also welcome the 
funding of the Ó Cualann Co-Housing Alliance.  There are positive things happening there. 

However, I want to return to the tracker issue and discuss the cohort of 4,000 customers, 
as well as the estimated group of 900 customers.  When did the Central Bank first engage with 
AIB in regard to those groups?  When did the Central Bank say to AIB that it believed more 
individuals were affected than AIB acknowledged?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: As we have said in the past, we were making progress on the frame-
work as a whole while we were carrying out assessments of individual customers.  As we did 
that, we made submissions in respect of those groups to the Central Bank.  We always said that 
this was going to be subject to review by EY and the Central Bank.  Obviously, the process of 
engagement with the Central Bank on those groups of customers only took place towards the 
end of last year.  That was when we came to the conclusion on the groups of 4,000 and 900 that 
we have described.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Was it the work of EY or that of the Central Bank that identified 
the 4,000 customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: It was the Central Bank’s work.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: When was the first time that the Central Bank-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: EY’s work has not been completed, by the way.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Yes, I know it is ongoing.  The Central Bank’s work is ongoing 
as well.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is correct.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: When was the first time that the Central Bank alerted AIB of its 
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belief that there was another cohort of individuals involved, which we know as the 4,000 pre-
vailing rate customers?  When was the first time that happened?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: In all of these issues, the Central Bank has engaged with us through-
out 2017 as we progressed our thinking around some of these issues.  As that particular group 
was not included in the framework as we were positioning it, the discussion on whether they 
should be included would have taken place in the latter part of 2017.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Was that in October or November?  Perhaps in August?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I do not know the precise month.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Was it before the last time the witness came before this commit-
tee?  Was the Central Bank challenging AIB before its representatives presented to this commit-
tee about the 4,000 customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The position that I outlined to this committee then was to the best of 
our knowledge at that point.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: At that time, was the Central Bank challenging AIB on 4,000 
customers that AIB did not believe were within the scope of the framework?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  It is exactly as we said.  The framework is never finished until 
it is finished in the Central Bank and signed off.  What we described then was the cohorts that 
we knew about and upon which we had agreed.  We did not say anything else in respect of-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I know that.  We now have additional information.  I will ask 
the question again.  At that time, was the Central Bank challenging AIB on the subject of those 
customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The thing I know the Deputy wants me to say, which I cannot say-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I want Mr. Byrne to say “yes” or “no”.  I do not mind, I just want 
to know.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The Central Bank’s officials themselves would say that they challenge 
right up to the point in time that they do not challenge.  That is their role.  They challenge us all 
the way through the framework.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I will tell the witness what I want to get to.  I want to get to this 
point.  I want to figure out when the Central Bank started to raise an issue with AIB regarding 
its belief that there were thousands of customers that AIB were not including in the scope of the 
framework.  I want to know when that started, what resistance AIB offered this argument, and 
how it eventually came to agreeing on it.  Then I want to know how AIB came to agree on the 
900.  It is not for my benefit personally.  People out there want to know.  Representatives of the 
Central Bank came before this committee and were a bit more robust than at their last appear-
ance.  They told us how they have hauled AIB over the coals.  I want to know if that is true.  Was 
the Central Bank engaging with any of the 900 customers?  When did the Central Bank start to 
engage with AIB on that cohort of individuals?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: All the way through this, we have said that we can only include in the 
redress programme those customers on whose inclusion we have made a final determination.  
All the way through this, the Central Bank engages as we go through that process in respect of 
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individual customer cohorts.  It clearly had not agreed a final treatment in respect of the group-
ings about which we are talking but that does not mean the Central Bank was challenging those 
groupings and saying that we were wrong in respect of them.  One of them, as I have said, 
which involves 4,000 customers, was not in the framework.  Therefore, the debate that arose 
after the final quarter was around the treatment of those customers and whether they should be 
in the framework.  That was a final quarter activity.  I cannot remember the details or the timing 
around the group of 900 but I am happy to hand over to my colleague on that.

Mr. Robert Mulhall: That was in the final quarter activity.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The Central Bank only started to raise these issues in the final 
quarter.  Is that correct?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: That is not to say that it was not aware of these issues progressing 
through the organisation at that point.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: It did not raise them with AIB before that point.  Is that right?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The Central Bank is aware of or sees where we are in these pro-
grammes; it knows how we are progressing.  That is as much as I can say.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Can I ask a final question on this?  My recollection is that we 
asked for an outline of the corporate structure of the bank vis-à-vis the number of companies 
in AIB plc.  I am not sure if we ever got that.  We have received a great deal of correspondence 
on these matters-----

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: I understand that it was sent.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: It was sent.  Okay, I will dig that out.  How many homes or 
houses does AIB now have in its possession and what is the arrangement for them?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: On each of the other occasions we appeared before this committee, we 
provided statistics on the set up in that regard.  On the most recent occasion, we spoke about 
900 homes being in the bank’s possession and that we were working through those with the 
Housing Agency at that point.  Obviously, there is movement in and out in terms of that number 
as we go through the process.  It has come down slightly but we have made significant prog-
ress with regard to the initiative with the Housing Agency.  We are moving properties into the 
market on an ongoing basis in terms of sales.  In the context of the Housing Agency initiative, 
we are hoping to agree on somewhere in the region of 250 properties.  We have finalised con-
tracts for 246 properties and we expect to close out on around 260 properties with the Housing 
Agency.  As I said on the previous occasion on which we met this committee, that initiative was 
launched on the basis of a fund of approximately €70 million through the Housing Agency.  It 
was done across all of the financial institutions but we would expect that our close out on that 
will be north of €50 million.  That figure is evidence that we have really embraced that initia-
tive.  In addition to that, in recent weeks we have re-engaged with the Housing Agency and 
provided a further list of over 250 houses and an additional list of 150 will go to the agency in 
the next week or two.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I ask Mr. O’Keeffe to explain that to me again.  In the middle of 
a housing crisis, AIB has 900 empty homes across the State.  The Housing Agency is going to 
take on approximately 246 of those homes and house people who are in desperate need.  Why 
did AIB not provide a list of all 900 properties to the Housing Agency?  How come another list 
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of 250 homes is now being provided?

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: As the Deputy can imagine, with that stock of houses, there are proper-
ties moving in and out of it all of the time.  At one point, we provided a larger list to the Housing 
Agency.  The initial list that was provided contained over 500 properties.  Indeed, in the initial 
days we identified 700 properties that may have been suitable but because of various criteria 
laid down by the Housing Agency for social housing, that list was reduced.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Okay.  Actually, it is not okay in my opinion.  The fact that a 
State-owned bank has 900 properties lying vacant is unforgivable.  I do not know who is at fault 
here, whether it is the Housing Agency, the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Gov-
ernment or AIB.  That we cannot get three State actors, as well as the Departments of Finance 
and Public Expenditure and Reform, to work together in the middle of a housing crisis is sinful.  
It reminds me of what happened during the Famine when we exported food while Irish people 
starved.  We have a housing crisis, with significant numbers of people homeless.  We meet them 
all the time because they stay in the same hotels that many Deputies stay in.  It is shocking to 
think that AIB, a bank into which we put billions, has 900 empty houses.  The people who are 
homeless now put money into the bank.  It is next to unforgivable.  I raise this every time we 
meet and the figures are actually increasing.  The number of houses that the bank has in its pos-
session is increasing.

Mr. Jim O’Keeffe: I think all stakeholders involved understand the challenges.  From AIB’s 
perspective, as I have outlined, we have recognised our position and the need for us to play a 
role.  We have gone to real lengths to make sure that the project to mobilise that was signifi-
cant.  There are wider issues around the criteria for the houses and the funding available but 
the numbers, in terms of what we have done to date, are significant.  Obviously, we have to do 
more and are doing that.  We are working with other agencies who may be able to take some of 
those properties.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I have two final questions for Mr. Byrne.  Did AIB carry out a re-
view or did its board commission a report into the reasons so many of its customers were taken 
off tracker mortgages?  I am not talking about what he referred to in his opening statement in 
terms of the examination.  Was a report prepared by AIB or commissioned by the board that 
identified how this actually happened?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: What I have described here is the way we have looked at it.  We have 
also gone through the details of each individual cohort to understand where they were at and we 
have carried out other work associated with that but not in the way the Deputy has described.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The board never asked for a report as to how this could have 
happened.  Is that right?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: This is a standing item in respect of the board since -----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Yes but that is the examination, which has absolutely different 
terms of reference.  I am talking about how the bank, through its governance structures, could 
have allowed this to happen, where almost €100 million was wrongly taken from customers.  
This will cost the bank up to €190 million but the board has never asked for a report.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The approach we have taken has been to go through each individual 
grouping and on a monthly basis to go through the programme to determine where it is at and to 
learn the lessons from each of those as we go through them.  We have done a look back exercise 
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in terms of the processes and procedures that we have in place-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Did the bank go back through the board’s minutes?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: Yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: If I had access to the minutes of AIB’s board meetings from 2008 
to 2015, before the examination began, would I see discussions about or references to tracker 
mortgages being denied to customers?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: What I have described is the way it unfolded.  That is what the Deputy 
would see in the minutes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Would I see that?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: What the Deputy would see in the minutes is consideration consistent 
with how I have described it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Would I see references to the bank denying AIB customers track-
er mortgages at that time if I had access to the board’s minutes?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: We can go to and fro on this but I have told the Deputy how we ap-
proached it.  I have told him how-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is it not the case that it was raised at board level?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: No.  I have described exactly-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: It was not raised at board level.  Is that what Mr. Byrne is saying?

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have given the Deputy an answer.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: No, Mr. Byrne has not given me an answer.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: No, Mr. Byrne has not given me an answer.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: The Deputy just does not like the answer.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Was it raised at board level or not?  I will accept Mr. Byrne’s 
answer.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I have said that any raising of the issue at board level is consistent 
with how I have described it here.  I have described it here and have talked about the fact that 
during that period there were, in certain instances, tracker issues that would have appeared as 
part of, for example, an update in respect of an Ombudsman case which found in favour of the 
bank.  It was very low level, in terms of the position associated with it so the Deputy will find 
references to it but nothing in terms of the minutes is inconsistent with or different to the way I 
have described it here.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: That does at least give us information that the board, at a differ-
ent time, was aware of complaints by customers regarding tracker mortgages.  It has now been 
found that the bank erred in those cases.
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Mr. Bernard Byrne: It is as I describe it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The final question I want to ask Mr. Byrne relates to an au-
thorised person under section 39 of the Companies Act.  Has AIB ever considered using that 
section, which would give independent third parties clarity as to who can actually bind AIB in 
cases in a court of law.

Mr. Bernard Byrne: I am not familiar with the details of that section so I would not be able 
to give the Deputy a good answer on it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I ask Mr. Byrne to revert to the committee on that.

Chairman: That concludes our meeting.  I thank Mr. Byrne and his colleagues for attend-
ing.

The joint committee adjourned at 10 p.m. until Thursday, 25 January 2018 at 9 a.m.


